
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Regeneration Committee 

Date Tuesday 21 November 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at: 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Navin Shah AM (Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Tony Devenish AM 

Andrew Dismore AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Monday 13 November 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  
email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 
 
For media enquiries please contact Lisa Lam, External Relations Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4067. 
If you have any questions about individual items please contact the author whose details are at the 
end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=303
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Regeneration Committee 
Tuesday 21 November 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies and any announcements from the Chair. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

Contact:  Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a)  Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c)    Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 32) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 6 September 2017 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 32 is attached for Members and officers only 

but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website:  

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 33 - 36) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 37 - 56) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, following 

consultation with the Deputy Chairman, namely to agree: 

 

(i) The arrangements for a site visit to Brent Cross Cricklewood and scope 

and terms of reference for the Committee’s discussion with invited 

guests on town centre regeneration at the Committee’s meeting on 

21 November 2017; and 

 

(ii) The Committee’s report, Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic 

legacy; and 

 

(b) Note its report, Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy, attached 

at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 

 The appendix to the report set out on pages 41 to 56 is attached for Members and officers only 

but are available from the following area of the GLA’s website:  

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee 
 
 

6 Town Centre Regeneration (Pages 57 - 60) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Riina Heinonen, riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4510 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to the discussion 

with the invited guests on town centre regeneration and note the subsequent 

discussion.  
 
 
 

mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration-committee
mailto:riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Regeneration Committee Work Programme (Pages 61 - 64) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Riina Heinonen, riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4510 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its updated work programme, as set out in the report and that the 

Committee’s meeting slot on 6 December 2017 be used for a site visit to 

Croydon town Centre. 

 

(b) Delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman, 

to agree the arrangements for the site visit to Croydon town centre and the 

date and arrangements for a site visit to Romford town centre. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 Subject to the Committee agreeing its updated work programme at Agenda Item 7, the next 

meeting of the Regeneration Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 6 February 2018 at 10am 

in Committee Room 5, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:paul.watling@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 21 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: Teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:Teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Regeneration Committee 
Date: Wednesday 6 September 2017 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration 

 

 
Present: 
 
Navin Shah AM (Chair) 
Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Nicky Gavron AM 
Joanne McCartney AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from: Tony Devenish AM; and Andrew Dismore AM for 

whom Joanne McCartney AM attended as a substitute. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/regeneration


Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 

Wednesday 6 September 2017 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Regeneration Committee meeting held on 11 July 2017 be 

signed by the Chair as a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
5.2 Resolved: 
 

 That the action taken by the Chair, Navin Shah AM, under delegated authority, 

following consultation with Deputy Chairman be noted, namely to agree the scope 

and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny investigation of convergence 

in London’s growth boroughs. 

 
 
6   Convergence in London's Growth Boroughs (Item 6) 

 
6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as  

background to a discussion with the invited guests on convergence in London’s growth 

boroughs.  

 

6.2 The Chair welcomed the following invited guests to the meeting: 

 Graham Kinshott, Department for Communities and Local Government;  

 Liz Fenton, Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership; and 

 Ralph Ward, Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 
East London. 

 
6.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

6.4 During the course of the discussion, the Committee requested that the Economic 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 

Wednesday 6 September 2017 

 

 
 

Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership, provide a timeline of the different 

convergence strands that she had been working on. 

 

6.5 At the end of the discussion, the Chair thanked the guests for their attendance and helpful 

contributions to the meeting. 

 

6.6 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the terms of reference for the Committee’s investigation into 

convergence in London’s growth boroughs, as set out in paragraph 4.10 of the 

report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the report and discussion with invited guests on convergence in 

London’s growth boroughs be noted. 

 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chairman, to agree any output from the Committee’s investigation on 

convergence in London’s growth boroughs. 

 
 
7   Regeneration Committee Work Programme (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the Regeneration Committee’s updated work programme as set out in 

paragraphs 4.1 to 4.7 of the report be agreed. 

 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the 

Deputy Chairman, to agree the scope and terms of reference for the 

Committee’s scrutiny review of Brent Cross and the arrangements for a site 

visit as part of the scrutiny review. 
 

(c) That it be noted that arising from the Committee’s report on Digital 

Connectivity in London, the Committee met informally with representatives 

from Transport for London (TfL) on 5 September 2017 to discuss what TfL is 

doing to improve digital connectivity in London. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Regeneration Committee 

Wednesday 6 September 2017 

 

 
 

8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 
8.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Tuesday, 21 November 2017 at 10am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 
9.1 There was no other business the Chair considered urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 
10.1 The meeting ended at 3.46pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Regeneration Committee – 6 September 2017 
 

Transcript of Agenda Item 6 – Convergence in London’s Growth Boroughs 
 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  If we can now move on to our main item for discussion which is convergence in 

London’s growth boroughs.  For the viewers, just if I can explain, the purpose of this meeting is to examine 

what has been achieved and what remains to be done in the six growth boroughs of East London to reach the 

objectives of convergence with the rest of London which was in the Olympic Legacy to start with. 

 

Members, can we note the terms of reference for this investigation? 

 

All:  Agreed. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Thank you.  Can I now welcome our guests to the meeting and invite them to 

introduce themselves and can I also suggest that when you introduce yourself you have up to about ten 

minutes to briefly tell us about your role?  We will start with Ralph [Ward]. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  I am Ralph Ward.  I have worked in planning and development and regeneration in London 

throughout my career.  I have just retired now. 

 

From 1978 I worked for the London Borough of Hackney.  I was the economic urban programme co-ordinator 

at Hackney in the 1980s.  I then moved to London Docklands for three or four years.  I moved across to the 

Government Office for London in the interim, when we did not have a London administration, and was part of 

the team responsible for London planning.  I wrote something called “The Objective 2 Strategy for 

East London”.  I was part of the very small team that appraised and recommended a Single Regeneration 

Budget (SRB).  Then I went to work again for the Government on the Thames Gateway project.  It was during 

that, in the early 2000s, that the Olympic bid was made.  I saw this happening and actually thought, “This is 

likely to win”.  When we did win, because of my background and my involvement in the Thames Gateway - 

Stratford being in Thames Gateway, I suppose - I took on fulltime a role that I think was called Regeneration 

Advisor Olympic and Thames Gateway, advising the Department for Communities and Local Government 

(DCLG).  Although the management for the Olympics in government organisational terms was Culture, Media 

and Sport, we became increasingly involved in the bid, from a funding point of view and also on the issue of 

legacy and regeneration legacy because that was our departmental responsibility. 

 

I retired actually in 2011 and was made a Visiting Professor at University of East London (UEL).  Through UEL 

we still have a small group of people, whom we call the London Legacies Group, that research and occasionally 

have seminars about the impact of the Olympics.  I keep busy in various other planning ways but I am no 

longer involved in Olympic-related activity beyond that. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Thank you for that.  Liz. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  I was Head of 

Regeneration in Hackney when we were putting the bid together, working with the Greater London Authority 

(GLA) and the London Development Agency (LDA) to do that.  After leaving Hackney I have been working, off 

and on, for originally the Host Boroughs Partnership and then the Growth Boroughs Partnership.  I was 

Page 9



 

 

working on putting the forecasting together to help local people get into jobs prior to the Olympics in 

construction and then during the Olympics.  I then started working with the head of the Host Boroughs Unit 

on the Convergence Strategy.  I have written a couple of the last two convergence strategies and have written 

the annual reports on convergence as well.  In my spare time, I liaise with Ralph on the London Legacies Group. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  Good afternoon, 

Graham Kinshott from DCLG.  I am a principal research officer in DCLG’s Analysis, Research and Co-ordination 

Unit.  Between 2005 and 2012 I was DCLG’s lead analyst for Thames Gateway and London 2012 policy areas, 

which is where I know Ralph from and I did some work with him when he was on secondment to the Host 

Boroughs Unit.  I have led and commissioned a number of different studies on London 2012 Legacy, including 

DCLG’s evaluation framework and baseline which I think I sent you a copy of prior to the meeting.  I also 

worked collaboratively with colleagues at the then LDA and Department for Digital, Culture, Media & Sport 

(DCMS) on their areas of Meta evaluation across government work on the Olympics. 

 

Unfortunately, that project stopped immediately post-2012.  There were a number of different reasons why; 

including a change of government, and a change of ministerial teams.  We devolved responsibility to the 

London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) for regeneration and any evaluation of that.  I still have a 

strong personal interest in it but as such most of the information I will give you will be historical.  However, my 

colleague, Karen Irving [DCLG], who will be joining us shortly, is DCLG’s current lead on Thames Estuaries, as it 

is now called, in the Olympic policy area1.  She works in the Growth and Place Analysis Team.  She can give you 

the Department’s current view on that. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Thank you very much for that information.  Again, for the viewers on our webcast 

as well as here, for clarification the six participating growth boroughs are Barking and Dagenham, Greenwich, 

Hackney, Newham, Tower Hamlets and Waltham Forest.  Those are the six growth boroughs who are part of 

this particular legacy pledge.  We did have a couple of representatives expected from the boroughs.  

Unfortunately, they could not make it but we shall be inviting them for a written response to our examination. 

 

If I can start with the introductory question, then other Committee Members have questions to ask of our 

guests present today.  If I can start with Ralph, how was the vision for the Convergence Plan developed and 

who were its main drivers? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  I have to take you back to the bid itself.  The bid was very big on ambition, you will probably 

remember.  It was very grandiose really.  It was rather quieter on the question of why and how it was going to 

generate this regenerative impact and very quiet on delivery, who was going to be responsible.  When the bid 

was won the responsibility centred in on the Olympic Delivery Authority (ODA).  However, its interest really 

was the site.  “Legacy” was starting to be interpreted as being:  what can we do with the site?  They did quite a 

good job.  The LDA as well was getting involved in how some of the jobs being created there might be taken 

by local people.  The idea that it was going to be a bigger thing for East London was getting a bit left behind, 

and as to how it could be a bigger thing.  I was always puzzled with how it could be a bigger thing for 

East London.  The Olympic Games were in a very small part of East London. 

 

The penny was dropping that something more perhaps needed to be done to meet the aspirations of legacy 

and regeneration, both with ministers in DCLG and also with the Mayor.  The LDA brought someone in from 

                                                 
1 Following the meeting, Karen Irving gave her apologies that she was not able to attend the meeting. 

Page 10



 

 

Manchester, Tom Russell [former chief executive of New East Manchester], who had been responsible for 

producing a very successful legacy plan for the Manchester Commonwealth Games.  He brought with him the 

idea of a Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF).  His idea of the SRF was perfectly valid but it was very 

much to do with investment in particular social facilities, programmes and the like. 

 

The Host Boroughs felt that this was a bit more of the same.  A blizzard of regeneration programmes had been 

targeted - I have been involved in many of them - on that part of London, the Single Regeneration Budget 

(SRB), Stratford City Challenge, housing action trusts and so forth and so on.  They felt, “We have had all 

these millions…” - I used to know what the figure was - “… and we are still at the bottom of the pile.  This is 

the time to think differently and think bigger.”  They wanted to use the Olympics not as a driver of this, in the 

sense that there was some sort of project that was linked to the Olympics, but as a wake-up call.  This was a 

threshold at which point London needed to wake up to the fact that it had had this area in the east for well 

over a century and it was time to think again.  The Olympics had a significance of that kind, rather than a 

particular source of programmes.  Fundamentally, what they wanted to do was decide how we were going to 

address the problem of poverty in East London. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  What were the key targets? Deprivation and? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Then the question was:  how do we define those?  A report was drafted by some consultants, 

Navigant.  They identified a series of indicators and suggested these were indicators which measure on a sub-

regional level where the gap is between the conditions in East London and the conditions across London as a 

whole.  Issues included levels of the employment rate, levels of unemployment, the condition of homes and so 

forth.  I cannot remember exactly but that is where they came from.  We looked at that list.  At that point I was 

seconded from DCLG to the Host Borough Unit.  I wrote a lot of the Convergence Report eventually.  What we 

sought to do was try to build on beginnings of a programme that might start to address some of those 

problems; whether or not they were Olympic solutions it was these were the problems that needed to be 

solved.  We had about two months to write the report.  This is a problem that has been with London for a 

century and a half.  We were not trying to solve the problem.  Effectively what we were doing was writing a 

manifesto to get everyone politically - the ministers, the Mayor and the boroughs - to agree that this needed 

to be a fundamental agenda for them.  We scoped out some ideas of what that agenda might consist of but we 

did not pretend it was the last word. 

 

The concept of convergence was an attractive way of capturing this sense of matching and meeting the gap 

between average London and East London.  The attraction of convergence was that it was a measurable thing.  

One of the things the boroughs were concerned about was that, as I said, all these programmes were 

addressing different bits and pieces but the overall sense of what was happening never came through.  Was all 

this making a difference?  That was the purpose of it really.  That was why we ended up with the Convergence 

Report and that became the SRF.  The term “SRF” began with the LDA as a different animal and continued to 

be adopted, but ended up in this rather different sort of agenda of the Convergence Plan. 

 

The intention was always that the Convergence Plan was the first stage in developing a programme or series of 

programmes based on co-operation.  Liz [Fenton] got involved in it and she is the one to talk about what 

happened subsequently, but that is the origin of the convergence idea. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  What are your thoughts about the overall programme that was adopted formally in 

2010 and then the whole process that is planned for 20 years?  Any thoughts on that in terms of its viability 

and how it has rolled out? 

 

Page 11



 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  The fundamental point in my view - different people have different views - is that the 

Convergence Programme measures outcomes.  It does not measure the process.  We knew this, in a sense, 

when we did it.  It does not measure how that outcome has come about.  If the area is converging because 

many of the people living there are leading more successful lives, great.  However, if it is converging because 

more people are moving in who happen to have higher incomes and better education, which is lost within the 

figures, then we are still converging but there are actually still a lot of people being left behind; So to me, that 

has always been a problem.  I am sure we are going to talk more about that. 

 

The only other thing I will say is 20 years is nothing.  The Inner Urban Programme began in 1978.  Docklands 

began in 1981 and look at the Royal Docks, it still has another 50 years to go.  In regeneration we always think 

in too short a timescale, for all the right reasons.  We want to make change.  We want to bring benefit.  

However, I think we are very unrealistic about the timescales that we use. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  I see where you are coming from.  Liz, do you want to add anything to what you 

heard? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  The first version of the 

Convergence Strategy was bigger and broader.  It had seven different themes and was drafted before there was 

an austerity programme.  Then when I became involved we had the collapse of the banks and there was already 

less money in the public sector so I reined it in under three themes.  The boroughs decided they wanted to 

concentrate on employment and the economy, anti-poverty, better health outcomes, and better neighbours 

which was around crime, transport and housing.  We brought it in and had to review all the indicators as well, 

because at that point, a number of the national performance-set data was taken away so boroughs were not 

measuring some of the things we were originally measuring.  We had to start looking for other things that were 

being measured.  Therefore, the set of indicators you have now are not exactly the same as the original ones 

because there are a number we could not continue to measure.  By 2015 we had more years of austerity and 

cuts.  There was less money and less levers that local authorities had to do some of the work.  For example, we 

had been really successful on education indicators in terms of young people achieving qualifications, but at the 

same time the local education authorities’ roles were being diminished and cut back and cut back.  That is the 

rest of the journey on that bit. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Sorry, Ralph, just a quick question.  You made the comment that 

the Convergence Plan was only looking at outcomes.  Was there any mechanism to capture the route to the 

outcome, the best practice, what things could be replicated?  It strikes me if you do not track that part you 

then cannot identify which parts are relevant because of the Olympic programme and which parts are relevant 

just because of the rest of the Government’s programme.  For instance, uplift in education.  There was an 

uplift across all of London because the work had been going on for years. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  In the  

2011-2015 strategy we did have a plan of actions we were going to take to try to meet mid-term targets on 

the indicators.  Again, in the 2015-2018 strategy we also had an action plan of specific things we wanted to do 

to try to help impact on those indicators.  Therefore, the subsequent two reports did have action plans going 

with them, although some of the actions were dependent on getting the resources together to do it.  However, 

not all of those resources ended up being forthcoming so some bits of our action plans were not achieved. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Could I ask at that point to what extent the action plans were the impact of actions measured 

or whether you did the action and then you measured the outcome?  Your point was having an understanding 

Page 12



 

 

of exactly what contribution the different bits were actually making to the objective of convergence.  Although 

we had the action plan, I do not know whether it was, “Yes, that has worked.  We will do more of that.  That 

has not worked.”  Was it subject to that kind of scrutiny? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Some could be, and some 

could not.  In the 2015-2018 strategy we said we wanted three more river crossings.  It is in the current 

Mayor’s plan to have three more river crossings.  We did not say river crossings were our priority but one of 

them is.  In terms of employment we had achieved grant funding to do specific employment programmes, and 

more recently we have European funding to do one.  Of course, as programmes they all have specific outputs 

and targets that we need to achieve so we can say, “Yes, we have achieved those”.  However, as you know, 

decades before - through SRB bids and City Challenge bids - East London has been very good at getting 

people into jobs but that has not always impacted on the employment rate or the unemployment rate because 

people move and people churn around in London, as I am sure all of you are more than aware.  I am not giving 

a neat answer because there is not a neat answer; it is a mixture of different things. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Before I bring in Joanne [McCartney AM], a question to Graham, whether he wants 

to talk about the main targets for convergence and how they were chosen, both at the time and in terms of 

what you think about how it is working out now. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  I was only providing 

analytical support to Ralph when he was at the Hosts Borough Unit so I had limited involvement in that.  

However, to reiterate Ralph’s point about the distribution of benefits and the beneficiaries that is crucial.   

 

As to the question about what process is involved in trying to achieve the convergence criteria, we did go 

through quite a lot of the logic chains that were involved in trying to track what actions we will need to 

produce the results.  It is often quite difficult to actually measure that unless you have a counterfactual for 

comparison purposes.  We will probably come on to that later on as well. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My questions are to Liz about the Growth Area Partnership and then 

Nicky [Gavron AM] is going to ask a little later about the role of the DCLG.  Can I start, Liz, by asking what is 

the role of the London boroughs’ partnership and how do you work across those boroughs and with other 

stakeholders? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  The role of the 

partnership is to co-ordinate joint work across the six boroughs on actions to address convergence.  There are 

a lot of things boroughs are doing individually that might help impact on convergence too but they are getting 

on with those individually.  The partnership is just looking at the joint activities we are doing together as six 

boroughs. 

 

We had a joint committee structure.  Because of the localism agenda and the devolution agenda at the 

moment the four London sub-regions cut across the growth boroughs, four are in one and two are in another 

so that has impacted on the partnership’s work.  Therefore, at the moment we are just concentrating on the 

two employment programmes that we are jointly delivering.  That is the sole focus of the partnership at the 

moment and other bits of work have been put into hibernation until the two sub-regional partnerships are fully 

up and running and can engage with those.  We have a quarterly employment and skills board that looks at the 

results of what is coming out of those employment programmes. 

 

On your list you had a question about community engagement. 

 

Page 13



 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Yes, that was my next one. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Yes, as a partnership we 

have not worked on community engagement at a six-borough partnership level.  That has been very much the 

role of boroughs to do the community engagement and to feed up what communities want, so we have not 

had any six-borough conferences at a local community level. However, we have had six-borough conferences 

that have involved different community groups and organisations.  For example, one of them was hosted by 

Toynebee Hall.  Although, generally speaking, in terms of grassroots community development work, we have 

not done any of that.  That has been left for the boroughs to do and to feed up to us. 

 

In terms of levers we have to help deliver convergence, as I said earlier the boroughs did have a lot more levers 

at the beginning of this process.  They had a lot more funding at the beginning of this process and in some 

areas they had a lot more powers.  Therefore, in terms of levers, some of that has changed.  At the same time, 

in terms of the health and the public health role that local authorities have taken on, they now have a few 

more levers than they had before.  However, again as you know, the funding has been reduced so that has 

dissipated some of that joint work that we were doing.  There was a very good six-borough programme on 

child health that some other boroughs joined in with us on as well.  I know, for example, Redbridge joined that 

piece of work on child health and obesity. 

 

Have I missed anything out? 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  No, I do not think so.  The six boroughs working, You say you are moving to a 

common goal and also presumably your share best practice.  Is that still happening now or did it ever happen? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  It has always happened in 

terms of employment work especially.  For example, you might be aware that Newham has an employment 

team called “Workplace”.  They are the biggest of our six local labour delivery agencies.  The other boroughs 

have visited them.  When Workplace was first being set up they were visiting Greenwich because Greenwich 

had set up prior to Workplace and so had Tower Hamlets.  In that way we learn from each other.  We used to 

have some best practice work groups where we would look at different aspects of joint work and different 

aspects of working on employment issues, to look at how we could improve systems for monitoring 

employment work and things like that. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Can I add to that from the days of when it was being put together?  The assumption was not 

necessarily that there had to be joint working or joint working with six, per se.  That was not part of the 

philosophy of it.  It was just that sense that there were a lot of shared problems.  The world does not 

necessarily follow borough boundaries.  Problems are not necessarily solved within borough boundaries.  The 

idea was to keep open the scope to work collaboratively and may be one or two boroughs.  That is where the 

strength was seen to come from.  I recall that in writing this thing, we got together with service heads of all the 

boroughs.  We had a meeting of the service heads of what was then the Education Service.  All they said was 

that we were doing fine on our own.  They all said this, that there was nothing we could learn.  Fair enough, 

just get on with it.  The issues about education were probably things to do with housing quality.  What you will 

find with this list of issues is that they bear on each other, do they not?  The quality of the housing helps to 

determine how healthy you are, or helps to determine how successful your children can be at school and all 

that sort of thing.  It is an intermingling of things and is quite subtle. 

 

The idea was to let us use this basic infrastructure of collaboration and then deploy it where it was most 

effective.  I could not honestly say when we drafted it that it worked in that way.  In my experience, working 

Page 14



 

 

with an objective of collaboration does not come naturally, certainly to East London boroughs.  It was not 

something that fell into place.  What it gave you was this framework that you could use to deal with problems 

in a new, interesting and different way. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  What might be useful after this meeting is if we can get a timeline from Liz.  There 

are certain strands you were working on and they seem to have fallen due to different issues.  A timeline of 

when they were and when they were taken down would be very useful for us. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  This question is for our participant from the DCLG.  Graham, what exactly was your role in 

working with the growth boroughs? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  I was the analytical lead 

supporting Thames Gateway and Olympics Directorate, and they were our policy directorate response.  That is 

where Ralph worked.  We did the analytical support, and when Ralph went over to the Host Boroughs Unit I 

helped feed into the evidence base for that.  Therefore, I have had limited involvement in the development or 

the convergence but what we did simultaneously is we developed DCLG’s London 2012 Evaluation Framework 

[and associated baseline data].  It was mainly based about regeneration indicators, but we did design that so it 

was complementary to the work that the Host Boroughs were doing.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Sorry, what was it called? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  It is the evaluation 

framework. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Regeneration, you called it; regeneration framework. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  Yes, because our 

department’s responsibility is mainly for regeneration; the communities aspect to the Olympic Legacy.  That is 

a Government Green Book compliant evaluation trying to measure the impacts of London 2012. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  If we wanted to find that document, what is it called? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  It is published.  There is a link 

to it in your pack. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  OK.  Fine. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  [Referring to the DCLG 

London 2012 evaluation framework] The problem was, after we devolved policy responsibility to LLDC and 

ultimately the Mayor, no further work was done by our department.  However, it does at least give a 

framework for which you can measure some of the impacts over time and some techniques of trying to work 

out how you might identify what might have happened anyway.  You are measuring a counterfactual case 

against what has actually happened; therefore, measuring the net impact of the Games. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  That is very interesting.  You have mentioned counterfactuals twice now.  That is 

really important, and I guess we will find out as we go on with the meeting. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Besides that, from my point of view, Graham is referenced as an expert in measurement and 

Page 15



 

 

analysis, whereas my reference point, as we were putting this together, was in terms of the relevance of the 

measures that we had selected and the like.  One other interesting thing - it was not actually you, Graham, but 

your team - when we said we want to converge to the London average I asked, “What does a London average 

borough look like and what is a borough that hits the average measure?”  The answer is Ealing, interestingly 

enough, and I do not mean that in any pejorative way.  I find that quite an interesting one, because no part of 

East London reminds me of Ealing.  I am not saying geographically, obviously, but in terms of the mix and the 

economic and social structure of the place.  It was that kind of advice that was -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  The role was really at a distance, anyway, in terms of -- 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  In terms of your question 

about what policy levers we have now, DCLG is probably limited because they go through the Mayor, but my 

colleague Karen [Irving] works in our growth and places analysis team.  Therefore, she has responsibility for 

wider-scale regeneration.  We both work in the analytical teams.  We do have some resources, albeit finite, to 

work on joint projects.  Obviously, it is not a bottomless pit but, if there are opportunities for joint work or just 

feeding in comments and advice on projects that the GLA or other bodies or the Host Boroughs want to do, we 

can sometimes arrange that. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Right.  Graham, while all this has been going on, it has been a moving picture - some of it 

has been mentioned - in terms of things have changed; the climate has changed.  How much do you take 

account of reforms, in terms of welfare and in terms of housing and planning policy, when you are doing your 

frameworks and when you are looking at broken places and so on? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  That would be difficult 

because the Evaluation Framework was developed prior to - when would it have been done?  Probably 2010 

most of the work was done. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  At the beginning of a shift in -- 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  Yes.  The welfare reforms and 

the Olympics, of course, would have happened after that.  It would just have to be adapted ongoing to try to 

work out what would happen there.  I read in the pack some of the comments from Kirby Swales about people 

being displaced to outer London boroughs, and that will impact on the demographics of the borough. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Exactly. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  The other thing we do 

measure, we measure the Indices of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) as well, which is a useful guide.  That will 

obviously feed into the convergence criteria going forwards, I would have thought.  It is a difficult one to track 

because there are so many different things going.  As well as welfare reforms and things like that, you have a 

huge churn in the boroughs as well because of all the new housing being made available in the Host Boroughs 

around the Olympic site and places like that.  It is like a moving target all the time. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  An inexact science.  Thank you. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  Yes.  You can only do what 

you can do in something like that. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  No, I understand.  Thank you. 

Page 16



 

 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  The latest convergence report indicates that less than half of the 

indicators will actually be hit on time.  I wondered what your perspective was on why that is the situation and 

what could be done to turn that around. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  We have a very early 

version of the 2016/17 indicators and that does show a better picture than 2015/16, surprisingly.  A lot of 

them look like they are on track to meet their 2020 targets now in the latest information, which I will be able 

to share once this has all been verified.  Although employment rates have increased, median earnings in the 

Growth Boroughs have not kept up with the London average at all.  That is looking like it certainly will not be 

met.  Job density also, and obesity levels in children in Year 6, the gap has actually not changed; it has 

widened since the base-line year in 2009. 

 

Something I was discussing with the health group that we have been working with up until two years ago on 

this; we were expecting austerity to start impacting on life expectancy, and it has now.  In the latest data for 

women, life expectancy for the first time has decreased slightly, which is what we would have expected if you 

are thinking about poorer, older women that are very reliant on public-sector resources.  That has changed. 

 

Ralph and Graham have talked about our inability to look under some of the indicators.  We had tried in terms 

of the employment rate and the unemployment rate to see what was happening.  We did not have resources.  

Originally, with the DCMS and DCLG, we had been talking about doing a piece of research, together with the 

Host Boroughs and GLA, that would look at the population of 2009 and how the Olympics had impacted on 

them, and taking into account counterfactual things.  The resources to do that disappeared. 

 

We were then trying to think through, “What other ways can we look at things in a more fine-grain level?”  In 

the last annual report and in the new one that will be coming out, we are trying to look at benefit levels and 

numbers of people on benefits rather than as a percentage.  If you do that, again, welfare reforms - if they are 

reforms - impact on that as well because some people are not joining what is called Jobseeker’s Allowance 

(JSA).  They are now going on to Universal Credit and so it is very difficult to map.  Generally speaking, the 

numbers of people on JSA have gone down and that is what the unemployment rate is based on.  Therefore, 

we can say the unemployment rate has really reduced and, therefore, the target is green. 

 

If we look at those numbers and look at the numbers of people that are on invalid benefits, or other 

out-of-work indicators, those numbers have gone up hugely; absolutely massively.  If you add those two 

numbers together, there has been no change since 2009.  Therefore, we know that, although the indicator is 

green, there is something else going on underneath.  We do not have the time resources to go into that 

properly, but we know it is not as rosy as maybe the fact that the indicator is green makes it look. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  I understand it because in one sense you could look at these 

indicators and say, “There has been some failure here”.  For instance, your comment about the reduction in life 

expectancy for women; the whole goal, I would imagine, would be to help those women move away from 

welfare so they are not so dependent on it.  I have some sympathy because -- 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  It is also the health 

service; it is not just welfare. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  I understand that.  I wonder as well, is some of the impact, as 

you commented earlier, about churn?  The comment you made about none of East London looking like Ealing, 

I now live in the east and know that to be an actual fact.  Are there some historical factors?  The point I am 

Page 17



 

 

trying to make is some of this work, the fruit will be borne out years into the future.  If you have taken account 

of the impact of how well children are being raised, there are better levels of education.  I wonder when this 

whole thing was constructed, why we did not put resource in to look deeper into these situations. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  There was the intention 

but, because of all the different cuts to public sector budgets in central Government and in local Government, 

those resources have gone. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Is it always about money?  If you are involved in politics at any 

point, everybody wants more money: the fire brigade, every part of public sector.  A comment was made earlier 

that we were only looking at the outcomes, not the route to the outcome.  It leads to my second question, 

which is: are there particular boroughs within the change boroughs that are struggling, or is it across the 

board? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  In terms of boroughs that 

have gone down the deprivation table, I think Barking and Dagenham is probably the case in point.  They had 

quite cheap rents and when the benefit caps were coming in in central London - or coming in across the whole 

country, but were impacting on families in central London moving - Barking and Dagenham was a net recipient 

of people from central London and some of the other boroughs were only in patches because their rent levels 

were already so high. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  We do not have absolute 

cast-iron evidence, but the general belief is that some of those additional deprivation indices’ profiles that 

have declined in Barking and Dagenham are due to some of the benefit-cap issues. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  OK.  I see what you are saying. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  At one point they were 

looking at whether it was the Olympics that had impacted on property prices in East London, and there is some 

evidence of that in Stratford.  In other areas where that has happened, for example, Waltham Forest, it looks 

like it is more waves up from Hackney and just -- 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Yes, the general rippling of London.  It is why I came from west to 

east. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Yes, rather than an 

Olympic factor.  Yes.  There are some areas around the Olympic site that look like they are impacted by the 

Olympics, but that is not so wide.  The general London ripple washes over that. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  There is no doubt in anybody’s mind that the Olympics has at least 

beautified that particular point.  You are saying that has had an effect locally, but there is no evidence beyond 

that? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  There is no evidence of it 

impacting on house prices beyond a fringe around the [Queen Elizabeth] Olympic Park.  There are bits of the 

Growth Boroughs that are quite far away from the Olympic Park.  There is no evidence that anything in the 

Olympics has impacted on Chingford, for example, or on South Greenwich. 

Page 18



 

 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  My final question would be - it seems quite crass, this question, in 

my opinion - are these boroughs on target to be net contributors to the UK economy? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Some are becoming that.  

About three years ago, we added in an indicator on job density.  I do not have the information in front of me, 

but, obviously, Tower Hamlets is a net contributor now because Canary Wharf is in Tower Hamlets.  The job 

density levels in Hackney have also grown beyond the London average, from memory.  I think I am right.  We 

are yet to see that happen in Newham in terms of the docks and it is yet to happen in Barking and Dagenham. 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  Right. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  But there are bits of the 

Growth Boroughs that are definitely becoming net contributors. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  It strikes me as a slightly strange measure, because I believe they are, 

because they allow people somewhere to live, so lots of people live there who work elsewhere in London.  I was 

originally a West Londoner and have now become an East Londoner.  If it was not for East London, I would 

probably be sleeping under a bridge.  I am not sure about that measure.  Is it an important measure?  Is it 

something that is at the top of your list of things that need to be changed? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  It is not on the top of our 

list.  It was only introduced about three years ago, when we were looking to see how we could measure job 

growth, and job density is the measure for job growth.  Yes, some bits of London are dormitories for the other 

bits of London.  As an East London resident myself, yes, I could not afford to live in any other bits. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  It was one of the objectives lying behind the original convergence aspiration, that 

East London should become more of a wealth generator.  A study was done by Oxford Economics, that 

demonstrated the sort of wealth the area could potentially generate, if its economy could be modernised and 

that is what is happening.  In the [Queen Elizabeth] Olympic Park, you have things like the Here East media 

and digital technology centre.  This is happening and it was one of the objectives. 

 

However, one of the issues about regeneration is that exactly what regeneration means is a very opaque thing.  

Some people talk about regeneration and they mean attracting private investment and lots of new wealth-

creating business.  Some people talk about regeneration and they are talking about people, poverty and 

equity.  Often these definitions are used interchangeably, people can be talking about regeneration and talking 

about two completely different processes, and to some extent, they do not necessarily fit together.  If you 

create a successful place, which people want to move into, you raise prices and that makes it more difficult for 

the poor people to compete with newcomers.  It is a very complex area. 

 

One the problems with the Olympics and regeneration, I always felt, is it tends to conflate these things.  The 

point you made is that it is a better place, but what difference does that make to someone who is living at the 

top of a tower block?  A better place to shop?  Certainly, anecdotally, the young people I know in that area are 

much prouder and more motivated, as a result of living in what is clearly a successful place.  I think you do 

need a spark of regeneration to make a place successful, but that does not necessarily mean you are tackling 

some of the issues of poverty. 

 

You might be making some issues more difficult.  One of the possible outcomes, what is happening in 

East London at the moment, where lots of quite expensive new houses are being developed in improbable 

Page 19



 

 

areas, in Royal Docks, in Canning Town, which were never associated, you are creating potentially some quite 

dramatic combinations of poverty and wealth.  We have always talked about the juxtaposition of poverty and 

wealth in London being close by and you might be creating some quite extraordinary examples of that in 

East London.  I do not think we really know that yet.  This sort of sub-regional statistic that we are talking 

about does not throw any light on that.  That is something that certainly, if I was still around in this business, I 

would be looking to try to do.  There is a whole range of getting underneath and into what is happening, 

which would, I think, be really, really valuable to you, to help to decide where we go next. 

 

I find it extraordinary so many of these things are green.  I have been working in this area for 40 years.  All of a 

sudden, they are going green.  Why is that?  What is the cause of that? 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  That is what I am so interested in capturing. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  We need to understand those causes confidently and then to repeat them.  It may be the 

Olympics, in part.  I do not know.  It may be better management by the boroughs.  It certainly is not more 

money.  The extraordinary thing is they are going green when we are going through austerity.  I would look at 

this say that is impressive, that you have so many greens.  Why are they going green?  What can we learn from 

that?  Do you see what I mean?  

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  I do.  It is a good point. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  We do, however, have 

more people on out-of-work benefits that are illness related.  The job density figure is quite important when 

you are looking at very marginalised communities or people with quite chaotic lifestyles.  From work, I have 

been involved in getting families with intergenerational unemployment into the workplace.  It is really 

important to have some local jobs because trying to get people motivated to travel across London for a job, for 

their first job, is really difficult.  You do need local jobs if you are going to tackle intergenerational 

worklessness. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  I used to run a job club and I saw that you could not start with a big job 

far away.  You had to build up to it.  Thank you.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I wonder, Ralph and Liz, whether from the beginning or during this process, we have 

involved academia because it seems to me, listening, it would be, and perhaps it has happened, very important 

to have a university, or even more than on, on side, tracking some of this and helping. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  I agree with you absolutely.  We employ two or three different consultants and we have the 

reports.  The first report was on: what kind of impact can the Olympic Games have on poverty?  Famously, the 

Olympics were plonked in the middle of this mass of intense deprivation as if that meant something, but what 

does it actually mean?  We did some reports.  When we came to write the report, I spoke to as many people 

who understood this and I have quite a few decent networks at Birkbeck, the London School of Economics 

(LSE), the UEL and the like, but we did not really deploy them.  We did not have time.  It was as simple as that.  

We had to get this thing done, the convergence report.  The whole idea was that subsequently it would be 

developed and refined.  It would be fascinating.  It was UEL that was to some extent prompted this.  We had 

some academics coming in to explore what is happening in East London because we found it fascinating that 

Barking was going down, Tower Hamlets was going up. 

 

Page 20



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  There is still scope to do that.  You are going to learn lessons. 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Absolutely.  Frankly, Nicky [Gavron AM], I think it is absolutely fundamental. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  UEL has been involved.  

Professor Allan Brimicombe had, via UEL, been commissioned by the ODA itself to do a report on the impact of 

the Olympics.  That came out a year and a half ago. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  About a year ago, yes. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  There are also other 

people in UEL that have been commissioned by the Growth Boroughs to do different pieces of work on specific 

aspects. 

 

I am in email correspondence and I have an overdue meeting with somebody from UEL to talk about possibly 

taking over the monitoring of some of these convergence indicators.  That is outstanding and support in that 

from the GLA would be great. 

 

At the moment, each year when I do the annual report, I work with someone in the GLA Intelligence Unit who 

quality audits all the of indicator work, the graphs and charts.  I work very closely with someone in that, so that 

it is all validated and signed off by the GLA as well as by the Growth Boroughs. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Graham, did, or does, the DCLG involve academia?  Have they, on this? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  We did at the time.  We 

commissioned a number of different studies, some from private-sector consultants, and some from our expert 

panels of academics.  We involved colleagues from the LSE on population churn in the Host Boroughs, and 

things like that.  Colleagues from UEL, Gavin Poynter and Iain Macrury, did a number of think pieces for us, 

not only on the Host Boroughs but also in preparation for the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 

Development (OECD) review of the Olympic Legacy. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is interesting.  It sounds to me as if there may be scope for a Commission to bring all 

this together and see what the gaps are. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  There is. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  More needs to be done. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  It would be a very interesting 

one to do but it is not really within DCLG’s remit now, given the priority on housing in the aftermath of the 

Grenfell [Tower fire] and so on.  It is probably not one DCLG could lead on but it is certainly one we could feed 

into if there was an appetite to do that. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Liz mentioned one area of research, which was about to be begun but then was not able to be 

funded, looking at what is happening to people in the Host Boroughs, who live there.  Are they benefiting?  

Are they the people getting the jobs?  Or are they actually being their own poor statistics, unfortunate, 

unlucky statistics, being submerged within lots of middle-class -- 

Page 21



 

 

 

Anecdotally, one of my old friends, his son is buying a house in Leyton.  Five, ten years ago, he would not have 

gone anywhere near Leyton.  This is what is happening in London now and that is not necessarily benefiting; or 

is it?  Maybe it is a good thing that London is balancing out, and probably it is a legitimate objective for 

London, to try to find a balance.  Economically it is important because you release the economic potential of 

East London if businesses will invest in East London, then they will see that and local jobs.  It has space.  

Space-hungry organisations move to East London.  Therefore, it is important, and it is probably important for 

London to have boroughs that are broadly similar in their structure and you do not have these concentrations 

of relative deprivation.  That may be a strategic objective.  To some extent, it is a strategic objective of the 

convergence.  Implicitly it is a strategic objective of convergence because that is what convergence means; we 

are all the same.  What that does not address, however, is the question of who is left behind in that process 

and that is the fundamental issue that I think we need to understand in all of this.  It seems to me, with the 

housing “market” as it is the complete dearth of affordable housing in a serious sense, that we have a 

fundamental problem to deal with. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Shaun [Bailey AM] mentioned churn.  I do not know if we know enough about 

demographic change and the displacement factor. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  The Host Boroughs Unit did a report, admittedly in 2011, but it was [Professor] Christine 

Whitehead from the LSE, who is the expert on this, which I could probably dig out, to try and explore this issue 

of churn; people’s opportunities growing and then they move out.  One of the objectives, as you know, in 

East London, is for people to stay. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Another thing I would say is that although in our briefing we have figures on how many 

more social homes there are, what we do not know is how many we have lost.  Some of that needs to be 

looked at, Chair.  I have finished. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Before we move to the next topic, I want to get clearer or sharper information, if you are able to give your own 

views from the experience you have had on being on this particular project. 

 

We had the programme funded in 2010, seven years ago.  We had the Convergence Strategy agreed and 

refreshed for 2015-2018 and that was endorsed by all parties concerned, including the GLA in its Action Plan.  

Given where we are, seven years on with this strategy, are we able to identify which Host Boroughs have been 

clearly successful as well as which boroughs are facing challenges, and therefore lagging behind?  Are we able 

to pinpoint that?  That is what I am after.  Liz? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  The borough that has had 

the biggest change against the indicators on employment and unemployment, is Newham.  You could say there 

are a number of factors but you could say that the fact that the Olympic Park is 60% - 70% in Newham 

contributes to that.  Then again, Newham, as a Borough has also invested the most in its local labour 

brokerage. 

 

In terms of positive change in the economic profile of the borough, Newham is the one that has changed the 

most.  Barking and Dagenham is the one that is on the other end.  It has also improved in some areas but it has 

changed the least. 

 

Page 22



 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Any other thoughts on this? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  No.  I would simply say it would need to be monitored and I have no idea what sort of 

monitoring the GLA does on the impact of its programmes and the collective impact of investment in these 

areas.  It would be very worthwhile to do that, not simply to count numbers, but to develop some sort of sense 

of where the impacts are falling, in a constructive way. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  My question, which has partly been answered, is how much of the broader growth 

rates of these boroughs can we put down to the Olympic effect or just to what is happening in London 

generally.  Some boroughs say a lot of the regeneration has come a lot quicker because of the Olympics, they 

got their train lines, better roads, but apart from that, is there anything that you can say is a particular Olympic 

effect? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Definitely.  In 2011 and 

2012, the Olympics provided an employment cushion in that bit of London.  Some of the metadata work with 

DCMS and DCLG was looking at other comparable areas that had comparable levels of deprivation to the 

growth boroughs.  We know that whenever there is a big downturn in the economy, it hits the poorer places 

first, and it did not hit the growth boroughs first, so there was definitely an Olympic cushion in 2011 and 2012.  

That fell away in 2013.  In terms of an Olympic impact, yes, things have sped up.  The over-ground network is 

really good now and that happened faster because of the Olympics, the East London Line, the whole outer 

circle, and there was that Olympic cushion, which then helped that area spring forward faster as a result. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Of the indicators from the original convergence targets, is there any way of singling 

out which ones and in what proportion, they are as a result of the Olympics coming to East London. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  This is a technical, methodological question. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  It is a very difficult question. 

 

Over time, what you would have to do is revisit some of the work that Amion did when they devised our 

evaluation framework and the DCMS meta evaluation, cross-government framework, and do some nearest-

neighbour analysis, like how a comparable borough, either inside or outside London, that did not have the 

advantage of having the Olympics on their doorstep, did against the Host Boroughs.  What you would need to 

do is reactivate those kinds of evaluation frameworks to measure the effects. 

 

Obviously, it would not be perfect because of the issues we discussed earlier.  There is a lot of white noise, 

changing demographics, the changing structure of the economy, and people coming through different routes 

into the boroughs, but that is probably the only way you will get anything like an accurate answer to your 

question. 

 

It would not be cheap to do and it would not be all that quick, either, but at least there is framework you can 

use, because we have baseline data as well.  It is not one that needs to be done necessarily by a consultant.  

Maybe it could be done in-house, by GLA, maybe sponsoring PhD students to do it, or something like that, 

with one of the local universities.  It would be a very interesting project to do. 

 

Page 23



 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  In one sense, I hope not very much is attributed to the Olympics, otherwise to do any more we 

have to have another bloody Olympic Games in East London.  One is enough for one lifetime! 

 

But less statistical, I have always thought about this in a causal way; what is quintessentially causal.  It seems to 

me that the market in East London, the image of East London, has radically changed.  The idea of the Victoria 

and Albert Museum (V&A) and the Smithsonian, going to East London, going beyond the Lea - the River Lea, 

the old boundary of London, was the edge of civilisation - to get beyond that is an extraordinary change.  

Where that is going to take us in terms of further spin offs is an interesting question. 

 

Local liveability: we have talked about this.  The local liveability in that part of London, and probably that area, 

with Stratford City and the like, and the Park, is strikingly improved.  How do people respond to that?  I am not 

sure. 

 

New businesses: new businesses are moving in there.  You have the new businesses in the Here East and other 

new business further down in the Royal Docks, with the multipliers that that generates. 

 

New housing: a lot of that new housing is being occupied by wealthy people, maybe from outside East London, 

but they are bringing money with them and they are spending that money. 

 

As you can probably tell, I was something of a sceptic about the Olympics, but I feel now that, though I do not 

know how you measure all these things, as Graham says, a priori, it is commonsensical that it will be having 

quite a big impact.  The interesting thing is how you build on that.  Maybe you leave it to the market - that is 

what it is good at - to build on that.  From my point of view, then you think about the things the market 

cannot deliver.  There are a lot of people living in East London who are outside the reach of the market, really, 

in terms of housing and so on, and that is where the priority now lies. 

 

This may sound absurd, but over the years, I have worked on a lot of disperate regeneration projects, as 

Nicky [Gavron AM] will know.  Now it is a question of trying to keep the lid on them, whether it is Hackney, or 

good old Broadway Market, which I remember when it was a completely empty series of shops, and now is just 

heaving with rich, young cyclists, or the South Bank.  Trying to get the South Bank moving, back in the 1980s, 

seemed to be an impossible task.  Now it is a question of managing this stuff that sprouts.  The same may be 

happening in parts of East London and it may be a management exercise now, that we have to deal with, in 

East London.  Then we need to perhaps refocus our attention, or you need to refocus your attention, on where 

that market regeneration process is not, the bits it is not going to reach, because there are going to be a lot of 

people in East London who are not going to be reached.  This could be bright green, but it still is not reaching 

some of the people who were promised.  That is what the legacy promise was really all about.  They were 

promised a change in their lives and actually they are being turfed out to Stoke or beyond.  That is what is 

going on. 

 

Joanne McCartney AM:  Thank you. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  I want to start by saying the Olympics is five years’ gone.  Five years 

after the Olympics, how do we keep the momentum going with this convergence programme?  Do things need 

to change?  Do the goals need to change?  I am quite captured by this idea of churn.  Are some of the 

boroughs suffering because they are collecting the poor from across London because East London is the last 

place people can afford to live?  Does that need to be taken more into account in how we keep the momentum 

going forward?  Do we focus on just economic growth?  Do we cater to people who cannot access the market, 

for whatever reason?  What needs to be the focus, moving ahead? 

Page 24



 

 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  The focus probably does 

need to be on the people who might have been left behind, or have probably been left behind.  As I think we 

have established through the discussions, the indicators as they sit, without the ability to drill down deeper, do 

not really get us to that, but that should be the next focus. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  Are there other things happening in London?  This building does tons of 

research and is involved in communities across London in many ways.  Is there something that we could be 

giving to you to help that research happen?  Is there historic data that could be used to judge that against?  

The clear question is: what else could the Mayor be doing to help?  Is there something new that you would ask 

of the Mayor? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  If we could set up, 

research, a body of work, and start looking at how we could get, perhaps PhD students involved to do it all on 

a low budget, and your own staff to support that, that would be a good start. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  What would you want to look at? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  From the research we 

could start making a case for how we do drill down locally to the people that might have been left behind.  

Some of the work we are doing currently under the Employment Strategy, we are trying to do that, in the 

European programme, but there will always be people who are missed. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  There is always a lot of work underway, good work, on finding and trying to reach this 

community, for want of a better word.  It has been going for the last 25, 30, 40 years in boroughs.  Some very 

good work about the Olympics was done by the LDA, back in the day, and some excellent work by Newham in 

Joblink, or whatever it is called, in getting people engaged with the world of work and all that sort of stuff, so 

quite a lot is going on. 

 

What I would say is, following up the aspirations of the convergence programme, rather than the kind of literal 

measurement.  We have been saying this.  The literal measurement has its flaws, so to speak.  It is asking how 

we collectively deal with this problem.  It is fair to say that it is not just in East London.  I think the second 

most-deprived borough is in West London.  Certainly, it was, not surprisingly, in North Kensington, when I 

working.  There are problems.  It is about poverty.  The issue is probably to think less about geography and 

more about poverty and get to understand better what is actually happening amongst those communities.  We 

are very proud of our academic presence here in London.  We do have some excellent academics.  Let us use 

them.  I am sure you do; I am sure you do have working groups of academics, but let us bring them to bear on 

knowledge about poverty in London.  That is what the convergence report was all about and it chose the 

geography of East London because that is the geography that has always been with us, since the middle of the 

19th century, and that is probably the place to start.  But let us not obsess with that geography; let us focus 

on people and poverty rather than geography is what I would urge and for you to deploy your power, your 

influence, to get into these sorts of issues in a much clearer way and then understand where the impacts are 

working.  They are going on; there are all sorts of programmes underway, with health and employment and the 

like. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  For us, in this building, the Olympic Park, the Olympics as an event, 

provide a very clear focus, that any lessons learnt from that could be applied across London, so the direct 

question is this.  If we were to look at that, what would you want to look at?  Liz, I am addressing this to you 

Page 25



 

 

as well.  What would you want to look at?  What would you want the Mayor to put his finger on and say, 

“These are the issues we want to appear in the new convergence strategy” because not only are they important 

in East London, but have application across all of London?  I come from Shepherd’s Bush and I now live in 

Romford; they are miles apart.  There is no difference in the people.  I do not think, “You are poor 

East Londoners and it works out differently for you; poor people are poor people”.  The point about the 

Olympics, I was slightly sceptical in the beginning but I do believe that it has helped the gravity move slightly 

east and now there are technical things that we want to learn.  What is it we should be asking?  What 

questions should we be asking?  Which groups should we focus on?  What outcomes are we after?  What bits 

can be transferred? because anything that works in East London will be gratefully received in Shepherd’s Bush, 

Hammersmith, or anywhere else. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  It is hard to say any one 

thing.  For example, Workplace, in Newham, has been very successful but if it had not had Westfield and the 

[Queen Elizabeth] Olympic Park on its doorstep, it would not have been as successful.  The job brokers there 

would have had to make many more contacts across all of London.  They would not have been able to have 

fewer, bigger employers that they could work with and get people from being not at all job-ready to being job 

ready and into work.  Sorry; I am not giving you any answers.  I am just saying that it is quite complex. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  The key problem is in terms 

of who benefited from the Games.  When all the job opportunities came around from the Olympic Park, 

Stratford City and so on, it is: where did those jobs go?  What was the distribution like?  Did they go to local 

people who had lived in the area and been in deprived communities for years, or did they go to people from 

outside?  That is where we need more of the individual, lower-level data, to work that out and see if it helped 

to transform individual lives in deprived communities in the vicinity of the Games.   

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  That is the sort of specific thing we could be asking of the Mayor 

because we have two very big developments.  We have Brent Cross coming up.  They are doing a lot of work.  

If we can learn the lessons about who was avoided, reading this paper makes quite uncomfortable reading 

when you look at the part where all the people who applied for the jobs in Waitrose and John Lewis and felt 

that there was not enough, that they did not benefit.  I have friends who live in Leyton and the like, and they 

feel it went well for people outside of Leyton, because you created a lot of high-paid jobs that other people 

came and took from them.  We need to learn those lessons and capture them, because there is the other end, 

where it went really well, where you did create that event, that moment, that brought in a lot of employers, but 

we can replicate it with maybe what is going on at Old Oak Common, what is going on at Brent Cross, as long 

as the Mayor is directed as to what we need to capture and what bits we need to try and replicate across 

London. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  A lot of the jobs did go to 

local people.  In terms of regeneration programmes and the sort of average percentage of jobs going to long-

term unemployed local people, the Olympics were successful.  It was comparatively successful. 

 

In terms of the jobs during Games time, a lot young people who had not had jobs before - they might have 

been students away at university but worked that summer - all got good work experience, earned some money, 

and it supported their CVs.  Also, a number of long-term unemployed local people, who were older than that, 

got jobs during that time.  All the money that went into the Olympics, if you were given that to regenerate 

East London could you have done better?  Of course you could, though it would take a lot longer, but would 

we have been given that money to regenerate East London?  Absolutely no way.  What we can learn from it, 

and from convergence, is that it is good to have really big, ambitious targets.  The idea of East London 

converging with the average for London is pretty epic. 

Page 26



 

 

 

Over the years, I have had arguments with people, regeneration professionals, that just go, “Stupid idea; you 

cannot ever do that.  It is East London, for goodness sake”.  I said, “Some people thought you could never 

have a National Health Service”.  We do have a National Health Service.  Yes, it took a long time and there had 

to be certain political things that all happened to be in a good order and a good place for it to take place, but 

if you are ambitious and you do give it enough time … 

 

For convergence to happen the target is 2030, not 2020; we have mid-term targets for 2020.  It was a long-

term plan, for over 20 years.  The biggest problem, and what we are failing from now, is that the Olympics is 

over; there was excitement after it, but a 20-year plan takes long-term commitment and different partnerships.  

Different Governments come in and out.  To have a 20-year strategy is a really hard thing to do in terms of this 

country, which is not particularly great at very long-term planning.  We do not do long-term budgetary 

planning.  That is a big hurdle for long-term projects. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Can I make a point as well?  I have been thinking. 

 

What was interesting about the Olympics is that it tried to combine a big piece of urban investment, urban 

change and urban growth, with social benefit, bringing those two things together, we talk about it a lot.  We 

tried to put in place, machinery to do that, through the LDA and Joblink, so that jobs would be beneficial 

locally, rather than just, say like Canary Wharf.  I am sensitive about that because I was working on 

Canary Wharf at the time.  Canary Wharf, famously, did not make a great deal of job outreach to local people, 

though it does now.  But that is what the Olympics did and I have to say that is what we used to do, in the 

Government Office for London with the SRB.  We used to dump big SRB budgets on, for example, 

King’s Cross, on Battersea, on Stratford, all the areas where there was going to be big physical growth.  We 

tried to support and bolster those areas and those local authorities with big slugs of £30 million or so.  The fact 

is the development never happened; it never got synchronised in time.  King’s Cross is coming along now, 

when it is partnership funded.  Personally, I think that is the right way of managing this. 

 

The Mayor talks about good growth.  Good growth is about many things but one of the issues to me about 

good growth, is linking investment and growth to local social benefit; your point about moving long distances 

for your first job is a killer. 

 

I do not really know, I am ashamed to say, exactly what kind of money the Mayor has, to deploy for the 

regeneration but we had multiple millions.  We did not realise how lucky we were in the days of SRB.  We were 

struggling to find good projects to give it to, if I am honest with you.  However, if you could develop a model 

that built on some of the experience of the Host Boroughs that have sought to do this - and it may not be on 

such a giant sub-regional level, it may be on a more local level, it may be on a purely borough level, depending 

on the geography; that engages the developers and the future employers with the local population and builds 

those sorts of links in a way that make people feel this is part of their world rather than an alien world that is 

coming to dump itself on their doorstep. That strikes me as being one way of perhaps learning from the 

experience. 

 

Look at the Park; the Park is full of local people.  I know the LLDC have done studies on this.  I am not quite 

sure; maybe the LLDC describes as local anyone who comes from the south-east of England - knowing the 

LLDC they probably would.  However, it is local and you can just see the ethnic mix of the people using the 

Park.  It is a local event.  Stratford City, too; people feel it is theirs.  That is an interesting thing, how one can 

recreate that sort of local impact, which is, in my anecdotal experience, reflected in young people’s sense of 

they live in a good place, and how that translates into sense of worth?  I do not know; we are getting into 

Page 27



 

 

psychology here, which is outside my field.  However, that would be quite interesting.  The problem with that 

is - take Old Oak Common, you might do that in Old Oak Common - I will guarantee you are waiting 30 years 

in a project like that to start to engage with that sort of agenda, probably, because it is such a long-term 

project. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  Does it not have to be baked-in from the beginning? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Ideally, it does need to be baked in from the beginning.  You could say we have done this with 

the Olympics; it worked actually.  I am jumping to conclusions.  Maybe you need to study it and prove to 

yourself that it has worked.  I would just say it has worked and get on with it and then take it apart, as you are 

doing.  Take it apart and say, “We can put this back together again here, here, and here”, and start to link up.  

London is growing. 

 

We all know London is growing.  However, there are two or three fundamental issues behind all this.  One is: 

quality jobs that pay a living wage.  None of this is new to you.  One of the issues is housing.  It is in there, in 

the affordable housing, in the SRF, in the Convergence Report.  Some of this, we know, is going to be very 

difficult to tackle but it starts to deliver some sort of sense of what we can take out of this exercise. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chair):  For me, that is the major area that I hope the convergence plan can give 

to the Mayor to work on.  What do we take away?  London will always have an opportunity, it might not be as 

big as the Olympics, but if we can understand what works, why it works, then we can have the package, the 

tactic, to move to other parts of London. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  Shaun (Bailey AM) has given the backdrop to my question, which is a concluding 

question. 

 

We obviously have this very special programme, with the Olympics being the big player and so on, and with the 

new strategy having been put in place from 2015.  The question is: what lessons are there to be learnt; and 

whether this unique sub-regional regeneration concept and programme is something that can be replicated or 

can help other regeneration programmes in other parts of London? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  The main thing is by 

taking a really long-term view.  The convergence strategy was to be over 20 years.  There had not been a 

regeneration strategy that has taken that sort of long-term view before and thought it could turn indicators 

around.  There are lots of hurdles to achieve that, but I think that is the single most important thing.  

City Challenges were five years; SRBs were seven years; the housing areas were ten years. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Action Trusts, yes. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  To keep sustained effort, 

not get bored and want to go on to the next new thing, constantly, but actually have a 20-year plan to make 

real change happen and make sure that no one is left behind, that is the biggest thing to try to learn.  I am not 

saying we have been successful at it, we are only ten years in, and interest is waning.  However, I do think that 

you do need 20 years to change an area that has deep and profound deprivation in it, for the benefit of the 

people there. 

 

Page 28



 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  A programme such as this would be as much relevant to, let us say, outer London 

areas, which are obviously facing substantial growth, economic, housing, and so on.  Ralph, Graham, any 

thoughts on that? 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government):  To reiterate what Liz said, do 

not underestimate the scale of the challenge.  Some of the indicators you are looking at - especially health, 

activity and things like that - take decades to achieve. 

 

Physical activity rates might have been a bit of a hostage to fortune, but maybe they thought they had to do it 

in the convergence criteria because it was an Olympic promise.  However, there is always very limited evidence 

about how you could achieve that through hosting an elite sporting event. Maybe somebody needs to 

reinvigorate that, do some pilots on what works, what has worked in cycling, and things like that, to roll that 

out and get people more involved in sports across the piece.  That would be my main thought on that. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  My point is basically what I have said.  How we can build on the opportunity, locally; engage 

the process of growth with local opportunities and access, through close management of it.  For example, what 

is happening now in the Olympic Park, one hopes that - and I will wait for it to appear - the cultural centre, 

University College London (UCL) can generate a whole new agenda of growth around it.  I’ve certainly been at 

meetings and we tried holding meetings with the local artists and cultural community and how they might 

engage with all this coming in their midst.  When you speak to some of the new investors and new institutions, 

you would think that culture was new to the area, but of course it is heaving with artists and creativity and 

those sorts of skills.  Therefore, how do we build on that?  This idea of becoming active and interventionist - 

although this is not music to some ears but it is where I came from and it seemed to work – being 

interventionist and helping to create impact and shape the impact.  That is what we did with the Olympics. 

 

The Olympics was a very special event because you had all of this excitement and public commitment 

associated with it, and I do not know whether you can ever recreate that again with building Battersea Power 

Station or something out in the Royal Docks.  It seems to me that if the Mayor [Sadiq Khan] and the GLA 

develops this, this is the modus operandi of this city, this is what we are going to do in this city and this is what 

we expect in this city.  At the moment you have these area planning frameworks, which are very beautiful but 

they are not practical. 

 

Nicky [Gavron AM] will laugh when she hears this because we talked about this 17 years ago when the GLA 

was set up and I was working for the London Development Agency (LDA), about a capacity for the GLA to 

have interventionist skills that can get in among these processes, these developers and local communities and 

shape and push along this process of engagement.  I do not know if I am making sense at all. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Are you saying that we do not do it enough? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  I could not say because I am not really in this network anymore. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Are you saying we did do it more? 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  My sense is that it is very much a planning thing rather than an urban growth thing.  Maybe it 

is going on, maybe it is happening, in which case perhaps it could - ‘formalised’ is the wrong word. It becomes 

part of your toolkit to achieve more equity in the city.  Inequity is a feature of every city in the world.  You 

Page 29



 

 

ought to read a book called Planet of Slums, which is an extraordinary book.  Quite honestly, we are very lucky 

as a world city to have the levels of inequity that we have.  Maybe we should accept what we have and carry 

on. 

There is an agenda here which could be the light motif of this city.  We only want growth if it is going to bring 

clear value to some of those people who are currently not benefiting from access to modern opportunities.  

Easily said, more difficult to do, I know. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I think Ralph has put his finger on what the Mayor is striving for, in terms of A City for all 

Londoners and all Londoners benefiting within the concept of good growth.  It is very much with this 

equalities/equity theme running through it. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Isn’t there a tension?  The more successful we become at that, the 

more successful we will have to be; because London already is suffering from its own success.  We have too 

many people because we deliver lots of money, people doing well, but that is also generating the big problems 

we have.  The reason I am stuck on churn is because London has massively prospered but parts of it have not, 

and every time some part does it a bit better they just send their poor east.  What are we going to do about 

that?  The better we become and more attractive place we become, surely that will just be the perennial 

problem, a bigger problem.  At some point how will we answer the success we are having?  People come to 

London now because chances are you will do quite well.  That means there are always a group of Londoners 

who will be left behind. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  I have no answer to that. 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  That has been happening 

in capital cities for hundreds of years as we all get on our bike or our train or whatever. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  Absolutely.  I accept that point.  I just say that is our big problem.  

The better we do the better we have to do. 

 

Graham Kinshott (Department for Communities and Local Government ):  What you can do is in a 

previous iteration of the IMD they developed a typology of some of the most deprived quintiles, so you could 

identify at the Lower Super Output Area what kind of communities they were.  I think this is a report that 

DCLG did in about 2009.  What you would be looking at, if something was an escalator area - I cannot 

remember the exact definitions - or a transit area, it is less of a problem, but if it is what they termed an 

‘isolate’ that is stuck in that rut then that is more of a problem.  Maybe we could replicate some of that 

analysis and see where particular localised problems were in those boroughs, how we could address them and 

what the particular circumstances were, and follow that up with some qualitative research and see if particular 

interventions were needed there. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I want to say, Shaun [Bailey AM], in 2000, when the London Plan’s first vision was set out 

and then the policy framework as a context of action, one of the main ideas behind the London Plan was to 

redress the huge historical imbalances in wealth, particularly opportunities between east and west.  The idea is 

good growth now, the growth boroughs.  That area was the biggest concentration of communities with dire 

deprivation in all of Western Europe.  The London Plan did not have the Olympics in it because at that stage 

we did not know if the Government would back it, although that is what we wanted.  To a certain extent, the 

whole of the plan is based on making sure that we are going to address those imbalances in the east which 

were left by the port moving out and the new port being the airport and so on.  Massive differences.  Then the 

Olympics came along, fortunately, as a catalyst to what was already in the Plan but, as Ralph has been saying, 

Page 30



 

 

it would have taken much longer without that massive catalyst in terms of investment.  There are lessons to be 

learnt, but I am interested in how we are going to be able to get that effect with much less investment now. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  In other areas when you do not have such a magnet. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I am talking about other areas. 

 

Shaun Bailey AM (Deputy Chairman):  There is poverty all over London. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  We agree there is poverty all over London but there was this intense concentration of 

poverty. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  The Olympics’ £7 billion, £8 billion, £9 billion, £10 billion was spent on the Olympic Park.  It 

did not go to the community particularly.  It went indirectly. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  And on transport. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  Yes, but it was mostly all there.  We tarted up the over-ground and built a little bit of 

Docklands Light Railway (DLR) but that is not the end of the world, is it? 

 

Liz Fenton (Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership):  Things like putting 

electric power underground, so the housing above it could be better quality housing above it instead of estates 

with overhead power cables. 

 

Ralph Ward (Joint Founder, London Urban Visits and Visiting Professor, University of 

East London):  The point I am making is the cost was on the Olympic Games rather than the programmes that 

went around it. 

 

Navin Shah AM (Chair):  We have benefited from infrastructure and the early funding and investment that 

we had otherwise we would not have seen that. 

 

Unless there is anything else that our guests would like to contribute, we have come to a conclusion of our 

discussion.  On behalf of this committee, I would like to thank our guests for their very positive contributions.   

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 32



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 21 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out the actions arising from previous meetings of the Regeneration Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

 

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 6 September 2017 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

6 Convergence in London’s Growth Boroughs 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree any 

output from the Committee’s investigation on 

convergence in London’s growth boroughs. 

 

 

 

Completed – see 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

7 Regeneration Committee Work Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree the 

scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s 

scrutiny review of Brent Cross and the arrangements for 

a site visit as part of the scrutiny review. 

 

 

 

Completed – see 

report at Agenda 

Item 5. 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33

Agenda Item 4



        

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 11 July 2017 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

6 Can Regenerating London’s Town Centres Deliver 

Good Growth? 

 
During the course of the discussion the Senior Strategic 

Planner, GLA, undertook to: 

 Check whether the Health Check of town centres 

would include data about discount stores; and 

 Consider the potential to undertake supplementary 

work to monitor the impact of the business rates 

revaluation on town centres, noting that it would be 

important to have the most up to date data to 

underpin the policies of the London Plan. 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree any 

output from the Committee’s meeting on the 

regeneration of town centres in London. 

 

 

 

 

In progress – this 

action was last 

followed up on 

2 November 2017. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress. It is 

anticipated that a 

report will be 

published later in this 

Assembly year. 

 

 

 

 

Senior Strategic 

Planner, GLA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny 

Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



        

Action arising from the Committee meeting on 12 July 2016 

 

Item Topic Status For Action  
 

11 Creative Placemaking: A New Approach to Culture 

and Regeneration 

 

During the course of the discussion, the Deputy Mayor – 

Culture and Creative Industries undertook to share 

information about how Creative Enterprise Zones would 

be designated and how the Mayor would measure the 

success of these zones with the Committee at a later 

date once the criteria and scope had been further 

drafted. 

 

 

 

 

In progress.  The 

Mayor will launch the 

Creative Enterprise 

Zones Programme this 

autumn and outline 

the criteria and scope 

of the zones.   He will 

work with the 

Assembly 

Regeneration 

Committee to  assess 

the success of this 

new initiative which 

aims to support artists 

and creatives to put 

down roots in London. 

 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor – 

Culture and 

Creative 

Industries 

 

 

 

 

3. Legal Implications 
 
3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1   There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 35

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 36



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 21 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report outlines action taken by the Chair in accordance with the delegations granted to him by 

the Regeneration Committee at its meeting on 6 September 2017.  

 

 

2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by the Chair under delegated authority, 

following consultation with the Deputy Chairman, namely to agree: 

 

(a) The arrangements for a site visit to Brent Cross Cricklewood and scope and terms 

of reference for the Committee’s discussion with invited guests on town centre 

regeneration at the Committee’s meeting on 21 November 2017; and 

 

(b) The Committee’s report, Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes its report, Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy, 

attached at Appendix 1 to this report. 

  

 

3. Background  
 

 Town Centre Regeneration - Brent Cross Cricklewood 

3.1 At its meeting on 6 September 2017, the Regeneration Committee agreed: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree the 

scope and terms of reference for the Committee’s scrutiny review of Brent Cross and arrangements 

for a site visit as part of the scrutiny review. 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 5



        

 

 

3.2 Following that meeting, the Chair consulted with the Deputy Chairman about the Committee’s 

meeting on 21 November 2017.  It was agreed that the regeneration of Brent Cross Cricklewood 

would be used as a case study for the Committee’s ongoing scrutiny review of town centre 

regeneration.  It was also agreed that the Committee would hold a discussion with invited guests on 

the regeneration of Brent Cross Cricklewood and other town centres.  The Committee’s findings from 

this meeting will be used as a case study of town centre regeneration and will feed into the 

Committee’s output from its scrutiny review on Can Regenerating London’s Town Centres Deliver 

Good Growth? 

 

3.3 Members attended a site visit of the Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration scheme on 

26 October 2017.  The visit included a meeting of Assembly Members and local stakeholders, where 

Assembly Members heard about the planned regeneration of Brent Cross Cricklewood.  Assembly 

Members also received a tour of the area to understand the impact the regeneration project will have 

and to inform its discussion with invited guests at its meeting on 21 November 2017. 

 

3.4 The report at Agenda Item 6 gives more information about the areas for discussion with invited 

guests on town centre regeneration. 

 

 Convergence in London’s Growth Boroughs 

3.5 At its meeting on 6 September 2017, the Committee discussed the progress of convergence in 

London’s growth boroughs with invited guests.  The Committee agreed: 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree any 

output from the Committee’s investigation on convergence in London’s growth boroughs. 

 

3.6 Following that meeting, the Chair consulted the Deputy Chairman about a draft report.  The report, 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy, was published on 7 November 2017 and is 

attached at Appendix 1 for noting.  The report is attached for Members only but may be accessed 

on the GLA’s website here1 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 The Committee will use this meeting for a discussion with invited guests on the Brent Cross 

Cricklewood regeneration scheme.  The report at Agenda Item 6 gives more information including 

the terms of reference, areas for questioning and list of invited guests. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

5.2 Officers confirm that the report, Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy falls within the 

Committee’s terms of reference. 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/relighting-torch-securing-olympic-
legacy 

 
 

Page 38

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/relighting-torch-securing-olympic-legacy


        

 

 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

 

Appendix 1 - Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy. 

 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Forms 834 (convergence report) and 835 (site visit and scoping). 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 
  

Page 39

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



 

London Assembly Regeneration committee I 1

Regeneration Committee 

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

London’s bid for the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games included 
many promises to create a lasting legacy of regeneration and changed 
lives for those living in East London. The objectives of the Games 
included “exploiting to the full opportunities for economic growth”, and 
using the Olympic Park “as one of the principal drivers of regeneration 
in East London.”1 

Five years after the Games, the transformation of Stratford in and 
around the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park has been breathtaking, with 
new transport infrastructure, world-class sports and leisure venues and 
a new neighbourhood in the East Village.  

The data shows, however, that while the Games provided an initial 
focus for new investment activity, it was short-lived and resulted in 
mainly physical and economic gains. The gap in many quality of life 
indicators between the six host boroughs and the rest of London 
(known as ‘convergence’) is not being closed. The gap in terms of 
sporting or physical activity rates has got worse too.  

This report explores this gap in convergence between the six host 
boroughs and the rest of London. It looks at how far the host boroughs 
have met their convergence objectives, and makes recommendations to 
improve progress towards convergence and achieve a strong legacy for 
the Games. 

Appendix 1

P
age 41



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 2  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

What is ‘Convergence’? 
 

The desire for a lasting legacy of regeneration for East London was a key 
objective of the 2005 London bid to host the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic 
Games (the Games). The bid documents highlighted that levels of 
deprivation in and around Stratford, the proposed home for most of the 
Olympics venues, were much higher than the London average, and set out 
the potential effect that significant new investment would have on the area.  
 
In 2010, the Olympic host boroughs’ ‘convergence’ vision was adopted with 
the objective that “within 20 years, the communities which host the 2012 
Olympic and Paralympic Games will enjoy the same social and economic 
chances as their neighbours across London”.2 These ‘host’ boroughs were: 
Barking and Dagenham, Greenwich, Hackney, Newham, Tower Hamlets, and 
Waltham Forest.  
 
The convergence aim is a 20-year process of improving the performance 
and prospects of communities in the former host boroughs – now re-
named the ‘Growth Boroughs’ – by bringing them closer to the average for 
London.3 The goal of convergence is supported by the GLA through the 
London Plan, and a commitment from the previous Mayor to help “develop 
and implement a viable and sustainable legacy...of fundamental economic, 

social and environmental change within East London”4. It also has support 
from central government, including from the Department for Work and 
Pensions, and from other partners, such as the East London Business 
Alliance (ELBA).5 
 
A series of indicators, brought together under three cross-cutting themes, 
were identified to track the Growth Boroughs’ progress. These themes are: 

• Creating wealth and reducing poverty 

• Supporting healthier lifestyles 

• Developing successful neighbourhoods 
 
The table overleaf shows the various indicators, the gap between the 
Growth Boroughs and London in 2009 and the 2020 intermediate target, so, 
for example, the gap between the 16+ unemployment rate in the Growth 
Boroughs and the rate across London was 2.9 percentage points (PP) and 
the target is to reduce that to 1.4 PP, while life expectancy in men in the 
Growth Boroughs is 2.2 years less than the London average and the target is 
to reduce that to 1.1 years by 2020.  
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 42



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 3  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Table 1: The indicators of Convergence 
 

 THEME INDICATOR 
2009 LONDON 
AVERAGE 

2009 GROWTH 
BOROUGHS 

GAP (2009) TARGET (2020) 

Creating Wealth 
and Reducing 

Poverty 

Employment rate - aged 16-64 67.8 62.5 5.3 PP Narrow the gap to 2.5 PP 

Unemployment rate 16+ 8.5 11.4 2.9 PP Narrow the gap to 1.4 PP 

Median earnings for full time workers living in the area  £606.4 (2010) £568.2 (2010) 6.3 PP Narrow the gap to 3 PP 

Job density 0.86 0.60 0.26 pts Narrow the gap to 0.2 pts 

Proportion of children in working age families receiving key benefits 26.3 34.6 8.3 PP Narrow the gap to 2 PP 

Pupils achieving at least Level 4 in English & Maths at Key Stage 2 73.0 70.0 3 PP Close gap or better 

Pupils achieving 5 GCSE grades A* - C (including Maths & English) 54.0 46.6 7.4 PP Narrow the gap to 2 PP 

19 year olds achieving Level 2 threshold 78.7 74.1 4.6 PP Narrow the gap to 1 PP 

19 year olds achieving Level 3 threshold 52.9 45.6 7.3 PP Narrow the gap to 1.5 PP 

Percentage of working age population with no qualifications 11.7 17.1 5.4 PP Narrow the gap to 1.5 PP 

Working age population qualified to at least Level 4 39.7 32.2 7.5 PP Narrow the gap to 3.5 PP 

Supporting 
Healthier 
Lifestyles 

Life Expectancy - Male 78.5 years (2007-09) 76.5 years (2007-09) 2.2 years (2) Narrow the gap to 1.1 years 

Life Expectancy - Female 82.9 years (2007-09) 81.3 years (2007-09) 1.7 years (1.6) Narrow the gap to 0.8 years 

Children achieving a good level of development at age 5 54.7% 48.7% 6 PP Narrow the gap to 0 % or better 

Obesity levels in school children in yr 6 21.8% 24.0% 2.2 PP Narrow the gap to 1 PP 

Mortality rates from all circulatory diseases at ages under 75 99.4 (2007-09) 133.8 (2007-09) 34.4 pts Narrow the gap to 12 pts 

Mortality rates from all cancers at ages under 75 147.1 (2007-09) 168.4  21.3 pts Narrow the gap to 12 pts 

Recommended Adult Activity (3 times 30 mins per week) 17.9 (2008-09) 16.9 (2008-09) 1 PP Narrow the gap to 1 PP 

No Sport or Activity (0 times 30 mins per week) 50.2 (2008-09) 55.7 (2008-09) 5.5 PP Narrow the gap to 2 PP 

Developing 
Successful 

Neighbourhoods 

Violent crime levels (Violence against the person, per 1,000) 22.0 26.2 4.2 pts Narrow the gap to 2 pts 

Overcrowding measure (Bedroom standard) 7.5 (2010) 10.4 (2010) 2.9 (2010) Narrow the gap 

Additional housing units - Affordable units delivered N/A N/A N/A 85,000 units (of 211,945) 

P
age 43



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 4  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Convergence and the Olympic legacy 
 

Major interventions to regenerate the London Docklands and the wider 
Thames Gateway have been ongoing since 1981, first through the London 
Docklands Development Corporation (LDDC), and more recently through 
the Thames Gateway Programme,6 which was initiated in 1990. The Thames 
Gateway stretches eastwards from Tower Bridge and includes Stratford and 
Canary Wharf.  
 
The regeneration of Stratford, and a desire for a subsequent legacy for East 
London, were an important context for London’s Olympics bid. The Games 
were not “seen as ends in themselves but rather as a means for something 
good. That ‘Good’ is legacy.’”7 Beside the hoped-for economic benefits and 
opportunities that the Games could bring to the UK as a whole, they were 
‘deliberately’ sited in Stratford to develop and accelerate the regeneration 
of East London.8  
 
With the bid won, the initial focus was on physical regeneration, with the 
Olympic Delivery Authority’s (ODA) main responsibilities being to develop 
the site and construct the new permanent and temporary venues to host 
the Games. The London Organising Committee of the Olympic and 
Paralympic Games (LOCOG) held the responsibility for organising the 

sporting events but felt it had no responsibility for legacy. As Lord Coe told 
the London Assembly in 2009 with regard to his own personal ambition to 
leave a sporting legacy: 
 
“I think it is very important for us to recognise that, as an organising 
committee, we are responsible for delivering 26 simultaneous world 
championships and raising the public finance in order to do that. It has 
never been the responsibility of any organising committee of the Olympic 
Games, either current or historic, to be responsible for sports 
participation.”9 
  
To meet the aspirations of a regeneration legacy, the Government and the 
Mayor tasked the former London Development Agency (LDA) to “think 
bigger” and use the Olympics “as a wake-up call” to recognise the failure 
of previous regeneration programmes, and work to address the problem 
of poverty in East London.10 
 

Governance of the Games and the convergence legacy 

No one organisation is solely responsible for the legacy of the Games, and 
as such, it is overseen by a series of stakeholders, including: 

• Central Government, through the Department for Culture, Media 
and Sport (DCMS) and the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG).11 

P
age 44



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 5  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

• The London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) established in 
2012 as a mayoral development corporation under the powers of 
the Localism Act 2011. It is directly accountable to Londoners 
through the Mayor of London.  

• The Host Boroughs Partnership, established by the six host boroughs 
in 2006, to work together on the delivery of the 2012 Olympics. The 
partnership was renamed the Growth Boroughs Partnershipi in 2013 
in recognition that the area made up the UK’s strongest potential 
growth area.  
 

Assessing ‘the Olympics effect’ 

The 2011 census showed that significant change was already under way in 
East London even before the Olympics took place. The area was becoming 
younger, more diverse, less car dependent, and more dominated by flats 
and private renting.12 Distinguishing the very specific ‘Olympics effect’ from 
wider demographic and economic change is therefore challenging.   

 
Academic research indicates that there are at least three ways that hosting 
the Games contributed directly to the regeneration of the area:13 

                                                      
 
i The Growth Boroughs Partnership consists of the six host boroughs: Barking and 
Dagenham, Greenwich, Hackney, Newham, Tower Hamlets, and Waltham Forest 

• They helped ‘radically’ change the public perception and image of 
the area and of East London in general14 

• They provided world class venues, facilities and transport 
infrastructure15 

• They provided a new focus for policy-makers and helped ‘speed up’ 
the regeneration of the area.16 
 

After the Games, a report by the Royal Borough of Greenwich highlighted 
the ‘positive’ effect of the Games on the community and concluded that 
many of the borough’s long-term regeneration plans had progressed “more 
rapidly due to the opportunities that arose” from hosting the Games.17 
 

The short-term impacts of hosting the Games 

The Games had a significant impact on job opportunities and economic 
growth in the host boroughs. The Olympics provided local job opportunities 
both during the construction phase and at the time of the Games: 

• The workforce on the Park and Athletes’ Village peaked at the end of 
September 2010 at 10,333. More than twenty per cent (23 per cent) 
of the Park workforce and 29 per cent of the Village workforce were 

P
age 45



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 6  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

from the host boroughs. 12 per cent of the Park workforce and 10 
per cent of the Village workforce were previously unemployed.18  

• LOCOG employed or directly paid 8,300 people at Games time, of 
which 1,951 (23.5 per cent) were host borough residents. 55 per 
cent of them were previously workless. 

• At its peak, up to 106,322 people were part of the 2012 Contractor 
Games Time Workforce, of which 22,381 (21 per cent) were host 
boroughs residents.19 

• Further jobs were created in the newly-built Westfield shopping 
centre in Stratford. However, many were over-subscribed and some 
local residents called the promise of jobs ‘cynical’ and a ‘public 
relations campaign’. For example, 12,000 people applied for 800 
John Lewis positions; 10,000 for 550 Marks and Spencer’s positions, 
and 1,400 for 150 Waitrose positions.20  

 
Crucially the area was better able to withstand the ongoing effects of the 
2008 financial crash than other parts of the country. According to Liz 
Fenton, Economic Programmes Advisor at the Growth Boroughs 
Partnership, the Olympics provided ‘a (vital) employment cushion’ in 2011 
and 2012 in that part of London:   
 
“Some of the metadata work with DCMS and DCLG was looking at other 
comparable areas that had comparable levels of deprivation to the Growth 

Boroughs. We know that whenever there is a big downturn in the economy, 
it hits the poorer places first, and it did not hit the Growth Boroughs first.”21  
 

Progress after the Games  
Since the end of the 2012 Games, the regeneration of this part of East 
London has been delivered through different projects and programmes:  

• The LLDC has achieved major progress in the regeneration of the 
Queen Elizabeth Park (as the Olympic Park is now known), notably 
with regards to housing (East Village and Chobham Manor), business 
(The International Quarter) and culture and creative industries (Here 
East).  

• The Growth Boroughs Partnership has delivered a series of grant 
funded programmes awarded by a range of funders including the 
GLA, the former LDA, the DCLG and the European Union. For 
example, in relation to employment and skills, the London Local 
Enterprise Partnership funded a £17m programme called ‘Unlocking 
Opportunities’.  

 

Understanding the effects of the Games 

Several documents have been published that focus on the progress of the 
2012 legacy, such as the Growth Boroughs Partnership’s annual 
Convergence reports22 and the DCLG commissioned Regeneration Legacy 
Framework23. The LLDC also produces quarterly performance reports 

P
age 46



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 7  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

focused on the changes to the Queen Elizabeth Olympic Park which are 
discussed at the London Assembly. 
 
Amid concerns that that the initial benefits of hosting the Games were 
wearing off, the leaders and Mayors of the Growth Boroughs agreed that a 
‘step change’ in the efforts to support convergence was needed. The 
Growth Boroughs Partnership therefore published a new Convergence 
Strategy, endorsed by the GLA, for 2015-2018.  
 
To this end, a full action plan was agreed, which includes a series of 
objectives, actions, timeframes, and targets with clearly identified leading 
partners and agencies for each action.  
 
The new strategy focuses on: 

• increased employment and wage levels, 

• higher levels of skills and qualifications, and 

• improved transport infrastructure to unlock growth.24 

 

What progress has been made? 
 

There are a variety of ways of assessing progress towards convergence. The 
Convergence Annual Report 2015-2016, published by the Growth Boroughs 
Partnership, gives an up-to-date picture of the progress of convergence in 
East London. This is compared to performance against each of the three 
convergence themes, and progress made against the English indices of 
deprivation 2015, published by DCLG. 
 

The latest convergence indicators show mixed progress 

The latest report by the Growth Boroughs Partnership was published for the 
year 2015/2016.25  It shows a mixed picture of progress – with less than half 
of the indicators on track to meet the convergence targets. The following 
table – adapted from the report – shows progress to 2015/16: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 47



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 8  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Table 2: The 2015/16 convergence indicators 
 

INDICATOR GAP (2009) GAP (2015) 
 
TARGET (2020) STATUS 

Children achieving a good level of development at age 5 6 PP -0.4 PP 0 PP or better Achieved Convergence 

Pupils achieving 5 GCSE grades A* - C (including Maths & English) 7.4 PP 1.9 PP 2 PP Achieved 2020 target 

Employment rate 5.3 PP 3.8 PP 2.5 PP 

On track to meet 2020 target 

Pupils achieving at least Level 4 in English & Maths at Key Stage 2 3 PP 0.1 PP 0 PP or better 

19 year olds achieving Level 2 threshold 4.6 PP 1.1 PP 1 PP 

19 year olds achieving Level 3 threshold 7.3 PP 3 PP 1.5 PP 

Proportion of children in working age families receiving key benefits 8.3 PP 3.4 PP 2 PP 

Additional housing units  26,000 achieved (2009-2015) 
24,530 (2015-2020), of which 3,200 homes 
have been achieved so far 

Improvement on baseline but not on a 
trajectory to achieve the 2020 target, either 
because improvement from the baseline is 
too marginal or the 2015 performance is 
worse than that in 2014 

Mortality rates from all cancers at ages under 75 21.3 pts 18.1 pts 12 pts 

Unemployment rate 2.9 PP 2.3 PP 1.4 PP 

Percentage of working age population with no qualifications 5.4 PP 3.6 PP 1.5 PP 

Working age population qualified to at least Level 4 7.5 PP 6.7 PP 3.5 PP 

Life expectancy - Male 2 years 1.8 years 1.1 years 

Life expectancy - Female 1.6 years 1.3 years 0.8 years 

Mortality rates from all circulatory diseases at ages under 75 34.4 pts 21.9 pts 12 pts 

Violent crime levels 4.2 pts 3.4 pts 2 PP 

Median earnings for full time workers living in the area 6.3 PP 7.3 PP 3 PP 

Gap identical or widened since base line 
year 

Job density 0.26 pts 0.26 pts 0.2 

No Sport or Activity  5.5 PP 6.7 PP 2 PP 

Recommended Adult Activity 1 PP 2.7 PP 1 PP 

Obesity levels in school children in yr 6 2.2 PP 2.9 PP 1 PP 

Overcrowding measures  Data cannot be tracked but census data 2001-2011 shows increased gap from 3.7 to 6.2 

P
age 48



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 9  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Convergence has only been achieved so far with regard to the number of 
children achieving a good level of development at age 5, though 
convergence appears on track for a further six indicators, four of which are 
education attainment indicators.  
 
However, the gap with the rest of London is identical to that in 2009 or has 
widened with regard to indicators such as median earnings, job density, 
physical activity, and obesity. Other more long-term issues, such as 
unemployment, income levels and life expectancy, could be difficult to 
rectify in the short term, and fluctuate year-by-year through a ‘yo-yo 
effect’.26  

 

Some convergence themes are being met better than others 

Progress can also be measured against the three convergence themes: 
creating wealth and reducing poverty, supporting healthier lifestyles, and 
developing successful neighbourhoods. 

 
Theme 1: Creating Wealth and Reducing Poverty 

The theme of creating wealth and reducing poverty shows most progress 
towards convergence. The 2015-16 data show that 6 of the 11 indicators 
have achieved or are on track to achieve targets. The employment rate in 

the Growth Boroughs has increased since 2009 to reach 62.5 per cent. The 
employment gap has narrowed to 3.8 percentage points, a significant 
improvement compared with 2009 when the gap was 5.3 percentage 
points.27 The performance is good for education indicators, as the gap in 
terms of attainment levels has narrowed sharply. Indicators of earnings and 
job density are, however, rated red. The earnings convergence gap was 
greater in 2015-16 than it was in 2009, though job density remained stable 
as the number of jobs in the local economy increased while there was an 
equally large increase in population.28  
 
The borough that has shown the strongest improvement against the overall 
indicators on employment is Newham.29  This could be attributed to the fact 
that most of the Olympic Park, where jobs growth has been significant, is 
situated in the borough but may also be the result of investment in the local 
job brokerage, Workplace.30  
 

Theme 2: Supporting Healthier Lifestyles 

Looking at the second theme, supporting healthier lifestyles shows little 
progress towards convergence. While the number of children achieving a 
good level of development at age 5 now exceeds the London average, all 
other indicators for 2015-16 have seen the gap increase or are not on track 
to achieve convergence.31  There is no silver bullet to tackle adult sedentary 
behaviour and simply hosting the Games has not proved to be a panacea.  

P
age 49



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 10  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Theme 3: Developing Successful Neighbourhoods 

Looking at the third theme, the limited data on developing successful 
neighbourhoods shows mixed progress. The gap for violent crime has 
reduced overall, but there was a slight increase over the past year. This 
reflects crime trends across London and could in part be explained by 
changes in recording practice.32 Housing figures for 2015-16 were partial 
when the last report was published. They indicated that 3,200 affordable 
units had been achieved (out of a total target of 5,000 units), bringing the 
cumulative total of affordable units completed since 2009 to over 26,000.33  
 

There has been limited progress in reducing deprivation 

A complementary perspective can be gained by reviewing the English Index 
of Multiple Deprivation (IMD). The IMD is the official means of measuring 
how deprived an area is relative to other areas in the country, with each 
area ranked according to its relative deprivation. This enables a comparison 
of poverty rates across local authorities within England. ii  
Based on the IMD, many of the Growth Boroughs have consistently ranked 

                                                      
 
ii The Index of Multiple Deprivation is based on indices that measure ‘multiple deprivation’ 
in 7 domains: income, employment, health, education, crime, living environment and 
housing & services. Areas are ranked relative to all others. 

as having some of the highest levels of deprivation in the United Kingdom. 
However, as shown in the following table34, all of the Growth Boroughs are 
less deprived in 2015 than they were in 2010 compared to other local 
authorities in England: 

Table 3: The Growth Boroughs are getting relatively less deprivediii 

Growth Borough IMD 2010  IMD 2015 
More or less relatively 
deprived (2010 to 2015) 

Barking and 
Dagenham 

89th 127th - 
Greenwich 71st 147th - 
Hackney 49th 85th - 
Newham 51st 116th - 
Tower Hamlets 38th 81st  - 
Waltham Forest 62nd 118th - 

iii Based on English Indices of Multiple Deprivation 2010 and 2015 ‘rank of local 
concentration’, which is the population weighted average of the ranks of the local 
authorities’ ten per cent most deprived small areas. 
 

P
age 50



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 11  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

However, income deprivation remains a significant problem in the Growth 
Boroughs. Table 4 shows that, nationally, Tower Hamlets has the highest 
proportion of children living in income deprived households. Other Growth 
boroughs such as Barking and Dagenham, Hackney and Newham are among 
the 20 most deprived in the country on measures for the proportion of 
children and older people living in income deprived households.  
 

Table 4: Income deprivation remains a problem within the Growth 
boroughs 
 

Proportion of children living in income 
deprived households 

Proportion of older people living in 
income deprived households 

UK ranking 
Growth 
Borough 

Percentage UK ranking 
Growth 
Borough 

Percentage 

1 
Tower 
Hamlets 

39.3% 1 
Tower 
Hamlets 

49.7% 

10 Hackney 32.2% 2 Hackney 43.1% 

11 
Barking and 
Dagenham 

31.9% 3 Newham 41% 

Note that other London boroughs are 
among the 20 most deprived in both 
categories, such as Lambeth, Lewisham or 
Southwark. 

17 
Barking and 
Dagenham 

27.9% 

 
 

Significant social and economic change may be driving convergence 

Progress in tackling deprivation may be due in large part to the significant 
economic and social changes taking place in the Growth Boroughs. These 
changes include economic growth, gentrification and welfare reforms, all of 
which will be affecting the progress towards convergence. 
 
London’s economic growth is driving absolute progress in the Growth 
Boroughs. While the convergence indicators show a mixed picture of 
progress in comparison with the London average, the IMD suggests 
improvement in poverty levels in comparison with England as a whole; 
which may be, in part, due to the “rising tide effect” of London’s growth 
since the 2008 financial crash – the strongest in the UK between 2009 and 
2015.35 Some London boroughs have performed exceedingly well over this 
period. For example, 25,000 new jobs have been provided in Hackney since 
2012, an increase in job growth of 24.4 per cent, almost five times the 2013 
forecast.36 Indeed, the Growth Boroughs as a whole have seen considerable 
jobs growth, with 110,000 new jobs since 2012, and a further 125,000 
forecast for 2030.37 
 
However, as Greenwich reports national measures of economic growth are 
hiding “high and stagnant levels of inactivity”. 38 It argues that issues such as 
low pay, welfare reforms, the prevalence of part-time jobs and zero-hours 
contracts, and low levels of productivity are contributing to high levels of 

P
age 51



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 12  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

poverty in the borough. In addition, many of the new jobs forecast for the 
Growth Boroughs are ‘skills hungry”, requiring higher levels of education 
that may not be available to local people.39 As such, economic growth may 
be disguising the need for efforts to target those ‘left behind’ in the years 
since the Games. 
 
Social and demographic change is also affecting progress towards 
convergence. According to Mark Fransham, researcher at the University of 
Oxford, a series of ‘possible mechanisms’ could explain falls in relative 
deprivation in East London. Among these mechanisms, a process of 
gentrification could be leading to the displacement of poor households by 
richer in-comers and a dilution of the poor population rather than a 
reduction in absolute numbers.40  
 
In 2013, Kirby Swales, senior research director at NatCen Social Research, 
was suggesting already that the convergence taking place in East London 
was “a result of the in-migration of a new, younger, richer population to 
areas like Hackney and Tower Hamlets, while a more marginalised resident 
population [had] been gradually pushed to outer east London, to areas such 
as Barking and Dagenham.”41 The Outer London borough has indeed been 
“a net recipient of people from central London” because of its cheaper 
renting prices.42  
 

Indeed, many Olympic host cities have witnessed displacement and 
gentrification following large-scale investment in new venues and 
infrastructure. 43 Recent figures for property prices suggest that Olympic 
venue areas have seen the biggest uplift since 201244 and that London's 
Growth Boroughs have seen some of the highest property price rises in the 
capital.45  
 

P
age 52



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 13  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Getting back in the race towards 
convergence 

 

Five years on the excitement and promise of the Games has faded and it is 
increasingly challenging to keep the momentum going. Renewed 
commitment is needed to better face the new structural challenges arising 
in the Growth Boroughs, and to develop new strategies for meeting 
convergence targets. 

 
To face these challenges, fresh thinking is needed to better understand the 
factors affecting convergence. As Professor Ralph Ward told the 
Regeneration Committee, the Convergence Strategy measures outcomes 
and does not look at the whole process:  

 
“if the area is converging because many of the people living there are 
leading more successful lives, great. However, if it is converging because 
more people are moving in who happen to have higher incomes and better 
education, which is lost within the figures, then we are still converging but 
there are actually still a lot of people being left behind.”46   

 

Ensuring that local people benefit from regeneration has long been this 
committee’s main priority and we constantly emphasise the role of early 
and active community engagement as new projects are developed and 
funded.47 The need now in the Growth Boroughs is to focus on those who 
have been left behind by the regeneration around Stratford and in the 
former host boroughs.  
 
However, while the Mayor owns the Olympic legacy agenda, he has not 
yet made convergence a priority. The London Plan policies 1.1B48 and 
2.4A49 committing to a strategic direction for convergence were written by 
the previous Mayor. These policies were intended to support the Mayor’s 
strategies, including on economic development, but this never came into 
effect. The current Mayor is now in the process of developing a new London 
Plan. If convergence is a priority, it should feature in this new Plan, and in 
the Mayor’s forthcoming strategies. 
 
To do this, the Mayor needs to provide the strategic direction required for 
convergence to succeed. He should: 

• commission research on the factors affecting convergence to date, 
specifically looking at the effects of population churn, welfare 
reforms, economic growth, and Mayoral and Government 
interventions. This research would help identify the ‘gaps’ in 

P
age 53



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 14  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

convergence that need addressing and serve as a useful platform 
from which to assess future support and investment in convergence 

• keep the momentum going by ensuring that a commitment to 
convergence features in his new London Plan, his Economic 
Development Strategy and his final Health Inequalities Strategy 

• consider measuring how far future Good Growth Fund projects in 
east London contribute to convergence indicators 

Working strategically in closer partnership, the Mayor, the Growth 
Boroughs and the LLDC can secure a better regeneration legacy for east 
London. In particular, the Growth Boroughs Partnership needs more 
support for its convergence projects. Liz Fenton argued that boroughs have 
been left with less money and fewer levers to manage convergence, 
meaning that “local authorities’ roles were being diminished”.50 Work on 
other sub-regional partnerships between boroughs has also taken resources 
away from convergence, leaving projects in “hibernation”.51 
 
The LLDC is ideally placed to rise to the challenge of convergence and 
secure the legacy of the 2012 Games. The LLDC is currently revising its local 
plan, which is due to be published in October 2019.52 With the Convergence 
Strategy due to expire in 2018, the LLDC should:  

• work in closer partnership with the Mayor and the Growth Boroughs 
on a new Strategy 

• revise its plan to emphasise the need for a collaborative 
convergence vision extending well beyond the boundaries of the 
Olympic Park 
 

To facilitate this, the LLDC and the Growth Boroughs should explore ways in 
which closer partnership working could attract greater resources and 
support for convergence. 

 
Taken together, these efforts could help to breathe new life into the 
dream of a lasting Olympic legacy, an ambition the London Assembly has 
long argued for. The commitment made in London’s bid to secure a 
regenerative legacy for the Games needs to be seen past every hurdle and 
to the finish line. So many other host cities have fallen short, but with 
renewed momentum, London could lead the world in demonstrating the 
power of the Olympic and Paralympic Games to transform communities 
for the better. 
 
  

P
age 54



 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 15  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

Endnotes 
 
If you have any comments or would like to find out more, you can get in 
touch via reece.harris@london.gov.uk.  
 
Front page image- © Billy Hicks, 2012
 
 

1 DCMS, Plans for the Legacy from the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games, December 2010,  
p.1. 
2 2010 to 2015 government policy: 2012 Olympic and Paralympic legacy, Policy paper, DCMS, 
May 2015. 
3 Growth Boroughs Partnership, Convergence Strategy and Action Plan 2015-18, p 7. 
4 Growth Boroughs Partnership, ‘Home’, 2017 
5 Previously known as the East London Partnership, the East London Business Alliance (ELBA) 
is a business-community outreach charity promoting corporate social responsibility and 
employee volunteering, with a focus on the social and economic regeneration of East London. 
See their website for more information. 
6 I MacRury and G Poynter, London’s Olympic Legacy. A ‘Thinkpiece’ report prepared for the 
OECD and Department for Communities and Local Government, University of East London/ 
London East, 2009, p 14. 
7 MacRury and Poynter quoted in Ibid. p 39. 
8 DCMS, Plans for the Legacy from the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games, December 2010,  
pp 6 and 11. 
9 Lord Coe, speaking to the London Assembly Plenary, 21 October 2009, See page 11  

 
 

10 Lord Coe, speaking to the London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
11 London 2012 Olympics. Regeneration legacy evaluation framework, Amion Consulting Ltd 
for DLCG, 2015, pp 12-13. 
12 K Swales, ‘East London: Who’s gained from its growth?’, New Start, 14 January 2013. 
13 A Thornley, ‘The 2012 London Olympics. What legacy?’, Journal of Policy Research in 
Tourism, Leisure & Events 4/2, July 2012, pp 209-210. 
14 Ralph Ward, Joint Founder, London Urban Visits/Visiting Professor, University of East 
London, speaking to the London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
15 Liz Fenton, Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership, speaking to the 
London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
16 Ibidem. 
17 A 2012 Legacy for Royal Greenwich, Royal Borough of Greenwich, p 59. 
18 DCMS, Plans for the Legacy from the 2012 Olympic and Paralympic Games, December 2010,  
pp 11 and 12. 
19 6 Host Boroughs – Skills and Employment Update Special Edition, November 2012. 
20 J Prynn, ‘Olympics staff who can’t read or write’, The Evening Standard, 1 September 2011 
quoted in J Kennelly and P Watt, Seeing Olympic effects through the eyes of marginally 

                                                      
 

P
age 55

mailto:reece.harris@london.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78105/201210_Legacy_Publication.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-2012-olympic-and-paralympic-legacy/2010-to-2015-government-policy-2012-olympic-and-paralympic-legacy
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/55b0bf35e4b0aec58a3aecb1/1437646645248/Convergence+Strategy+and+Action+Plan+2015-2018+Final.pdf
http://www.growthboroughs.com/
https://elba-1.org.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78105/201210_Legacy_Publication.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/Data/London%20Assembly%20(Plenary)/20091021/Minutes/App%203%20Transcript%20LOCOG%20PDF.pdf
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi9wb6dvfLVAhUpLsAKHWQkCP0QFggrMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fqna.files.parliament.uk%2Fws-attachments%2F228758%2Foriginal%2FLondon%25202012%2520Olympics%25200315.pdf&usg=AFQjCNH9ItNmKjIhkwRbw4s2sw4DPragww
https://newstartmag.co.uk/articles/east-london-whos-gained-from-its-growth/
http://www.royalgreenwich.gov.uk/downloads/file/1480/royal_borough_of_greenwich_2012_legacy_report
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/78105/201210_Legacy_Publication.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/5135c6ece4b055d8b6194676/1362478828641/HB+Skills+and+Employment+Update+-+London+2012+Games+Time+Jobs+%28Nov+12%29.pdf


 
 
 
 

 
London Assembly Regeneration committee I 16  

 
 
 

Regeneration Committee  

Holding the Mayor to account and investigating issues 
that matter to Londoners 

 

Relighting the torch: securing the Olympic legacy November 2017 

                                                                                                                                        
 
housed youth: changing places and the gentrification of East London, Visual Studies 27/2, 
2012, p154.  
21 Liz Fenton, speaking to the London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
22 See the Growth Boroughs Partnership website. 
23 London 2012 Olympics. Regeneration legacy evaluation framework, Amion Consulting Ltd 
for DLCG, 2015. 
24 The detailed action plan is available on pp 29 – 36 of  the Convergence Strategy and Action 
Plan 2015-18 published by the Growth Boroughs Partnership. 
25 Growth Boroughs Partnership, Convergence Annual Report 2015-2016. 
26 Ibid., p.3 
27 Ibid., p.7 
28 Ibid., pp 13 14. 
29 Ibid., p.7 
30 See website 
31 Growth Boroughs Partnership, Convergence Annual Report 2015-2016, p 16.  
32 Growth Boroughs Partnership, Convergence Annual Report 2015-2016, pp 24 -25. 
33 Ibid., p25-27 
34 Figures in this table and the following are adapted from the published results of the English 
indices of deprivation 2015 published by DCLG, 30 September 2015, and the English indices of 
deprivation 2010 published by DCLG, 24 March 2011. 
35 D Harari, Regional and local economic growth statistics, Briefing Paper, House of Commons 
Library, 16 December 2016. 
36 Hackney Citizen, ‘25,000 new jobs in Hackney since 2012 Olympics – five times higher than 
forecast’, Hackney Citizen, 9 October 2017. 
37 GLA, ‘Mayor reveals East London is fastest-growing area of the capital’, 9 October 2017 
38 Email submission from Royal Borough of Greenwich, 16 October 2017 

39 Oxford Economics, London Host Boroughs Employment Forecasts, July 2017, p.17. 
40 Mark Fransham at University of East London seminar on Towards an understanding of the 
changing nature of deprivation in East London, 9 February 2017. 
41 K Swales, ‘East London: Who’s gained from its growth?’, New Start, 14 January 2013. 
42 Liz Fenton, speaking to the London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
43 I MacRury and G Poynter, London’s Olympic Legacy. A ‘Thinkpiece’ report prepared for the 
OECD and Department for Communities and Local Government, University of East London/ 
London East, 2009, p 9. 
44 A White, ‘The Olympic legacy: which housing areas have won gold?’, The Telegraph, 31 July 
2016. 
45 L Rivera, ‘London house prices: Olympic borough Waltham Forest strikes gold - and property 
markets in all host districts continue to race ahead following 2012 games’, The Evening 
Standard, 3 August 2016. 
46 Ibidem.  
46 Ralph Ward, speaking to the London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
47 Creative Tensions – Optimising the benefits of culture through regeneration, London 
Assembly Regeneration Committee, March 2017. 
48 GLA, Policy 1.1 Delivering the strategic vision and objectives for London, March 2016. 
49 GLA, Policy 2.4 The 2012 games and their legacy, March 2016. 
50 Liz Fenton, Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership, speaking to the 
London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
51 Liz Fenton, Economic Programmes Advisor, Growth Boroughs Partnership, speaking to the 
London Assembly Regeneration Committee, 6 September 2017. 
52 LLDC, Local Development Scheme, February 2017, p 7. 

P
age 56

http://www.growthboroughs.com/
http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=web&cd=1&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwi9wb6dvfLVAhUpLsAKHWQkCP0QFggrMAA&url=http%3A%2F%2Fqna.files.parliament.uk%2Fws-attachments%2F228758%2Foriginal%2FLondon%25202012%2520Olympics%25200315.pdf&usg=AFQjCNH9ItNmKjIhkwRbw4s2sw4DPragww
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/55b0bf35e4b0aec58a3aecb1/1437646645248/Convergence+Strategy+and+Action+Plan+2015-2018+Final.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/55b0bf35e4b0aec58a3aecb1/1437646645248/Convergence+Strategy+and+Action+Plan+2015-2018+Final.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/58977d7b29687ff9f4cbd575/1486323077253/Convergence+Annual+Report+15-16+fin.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/58977d7b29687ff9f4cbd575/1486323077253/Convergence+Annual+Report+15-16+fin.pdf
https://static1.squarespace.com/static/50b4ab77e4b0214dc1f631e9/t/58977d7b29687ff9f4cbd575/1486323077253/Convergence+Annual+Report+15-16+fin.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2015
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2010
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-indices-of-deprivation-2010
http://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN05795
https://www.hackneycitizen.co.uk/2017/10/09/25000-new-jobs-hackney-since-2012-olympics-five-times-higher-forecast/#comment-533266
https://www.hackneycitizen.co.uk/2017/10/09/25000-new-jobs-hackney-since-2012-olympics-five-times-higher-forecast/#comment-533266
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-reveals-east-london-is-fastest-growing-area
http://www.queenelizabetholympicpark.co.uk/-/media/qeop/itineraries/london-host-boroughs-employment-forecasts-final.ashx?la=en
http://www.geog.ox.ac.uk/news/articles/170320-changing-deprivation.html
http://www.geog.ox.ac.uk/news/articles/170320-changing-deprivation.html
https://newstartmag.co.uk/articles/east-london-whos-gained-from-its-growth/
http://www.telegraph.co.uk/property/buy/the-olympic-legacy-which-housing-areas-have-won-gold/
http://www.homesandproperty.co.uk/property-news/buying/london-house-pricesolympic-borough-waltham-forest-strikes-gold-and-property-markets-in-all-host-a103346.html
http://www.homesandproperty.co.uk/property-news/buying/london-house-pricesolympic-borough-waltham-forest-strikes-gold-and-property-markets-in-all-host-a103346.html
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/creative-tensions
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-one-context-and-strategy-11
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/london-plan/current-london-plan/london-plan-chapter-two-londons-places/policy-24
http://www.queenelizabetholympicpark.co.uk/-/media/lldc/planning/local-development-scheme-2017.ashx?la=en


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Town Centre Regeneration  

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 21 November 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out the background for a meeting with invited guests to discuss town centre 

regeneration. 

 

 

2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes this report as background to the discussion with invited guests on 

town centre regeneration, and notes the subsequent discussion.  
 

 

3. Background  
 

3.1 At its meeting on 11 July 2017, the Regeneration Committee held a discussion with invited guests 

on the impact of Mayoral regeneration initiatives on town centres across London as part of its 

scrutiny review on Can Regenerating London’s Town Centres Deliver Good Growth?   
 

3.2 The Committee agreed the following terms of reference for its investigation on Can Regenerating 

London’s Town Centres Deliver Good Growth? 

 To assess the successes and failures, in a number of case studies, of Mayoral regeneration 

initiatives as they impact on town centres across London; and 

 To identify what ‘good growth’ should look like, what it should aim to achieve and what are 

the factors that might assist or hold back such growth. 

 

3.3 At its meeting on 11 July 2017, the Committee also agreed its initial work programme for the year, 

including a site visit to Brent Cross Cricklewood and a discussion with invited guests on Brent Cross 

Cricklewood.  The Committee’s work on Brent Cross Cricklewood will be used as a case study of town 

centre regeneration, together with other town centres, and the findings will feed into the 

Committee’s output from its scrutiny review on Can Regenerating London’s Town Centres Deliver 

Good Growth? 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 6



        

 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

The GLA approach to the regeneration of town centres across London 

4.1 In the last ten years, several reports have drawn attention to the poor health of town centres in 

London. Facing a number of challenges, such as a change in consumers’ habits, the rise of 

online shopping and economic uncertainty, town centres have started to change with a 

pronounced shift towards more leisure oriented functions, particularly cafes and restaurants, and 

the night-time economy, alongside retailing, offices, housing and civic and community 

functions. 

 

4.2  The Government and the Greater London Authority (GLA) have had a long-standing concern to 

ensure that town centres are managed and able to adapt to changing roles and challenges. 

 

4.3 The Government’s approach to the regeneration of town centres has focused on various Local 

Growth Deals, which provide funds to local enterprise partnerships or LEPs (partnerships between 

local authorities and businesses; the one for London is known as the LEAP – London Economic 

Action Partnership) for projects that benefit the local area and economy. 

 

4.4  Various programmes have also been managed by the GLA: the Portas Pilots (£280,000 in 2012); the 

Outer London Fund (£50m, 2011); the Mayor’s Regeneration Fund (£70m, 2011); the High Street 

Fund (£9m, 2014); the London Regeneration Fund (£20m, 2015); the Growing Places Fund (£110m, 

2013 to 2015). 

 

4.5  Most of these Government- and GLA-led programmes have either focused on ‘growth’ or 

‘regeneration’. The understanding is that regeneration is supposed to enable growth in a process 

where local communities and authorities have the power to implement and deliver the projects that 

have been granted Government or GLA funding. 

 

The Mayor’s principle of ‘good growth’ 

4.6  The principle of ‘good growth’ is expected to be at the heart of the Mayor’s plans for development 

and regeneration of town centres.  He wants it to play a role in providing services for and 

accommodating London’s 1 million new residents. On 1 February 2017, the newly appointed LEAP, 

at its first board meeting, announced four potential different programmes that would be funded 

through the Growth Deal 3, including a ‘Good Growth Fund’ which was launched in summer 2017. 

 

4.7 In A City for All Londoners, there is no clear definition of what ‘good growth’ means.  However, the 

chapter on ‘good growth’ introduces a series of factors that can contribute to it in different areas: 

 Jobs and housing: Access to ‘good’ homes and jobs with a target of 50 per cent of new 

housing built across the city being affordable, with increased density and support to small 

businesses; 

 Green growth: Clean air, easy access to green space and cleaner energy; 

 Culture: Protection of different groups, creative workspace, heritage and the night-time 

economy; 

 Infrastructure for people and communities: planning childcare facilities, community spaces, 

healthcare facilities, school places and facilitating social integration; and 

Page 58



        

 

 

 Transport: Low-emission travel, increased transport capacity and reliable roads. 

 

4.8 At its meeting on the 11 July 2017, the Committee agreed the following terms of reference for its 

investigation, Can Regenerating London’s Town Centres Deliver Good Growth?: 

 To assess the successes and failures, in a number of case studies, of Mayoral regeneration 

initiatives as they impact on town centres across London; and 

 To identify what ‘good growth’ should look like, what it should aim to achieve and what are 

the factors that might assist or hold back such growth. 

 

4.9 Following a site visit to Brent Cross Cricklewood on 26 October 2017, the Committee will discuss at 

this meeting what ‘good growth’ could look like in the context of town centre regeneration.  

 

4.10 The Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration programme is not being funded by the GLA but as it is 

such a large regeneration project, it is considered that it could make a good case study for the 

Committee’s scrutiny review of town centre regeneration and could feed into report that will be 

produced on the topic.  
 

4.11 Brent Cross Cricklewood is one of London’s 38 Opportunity Areas – parts of London with “significant 

capacity for development”1 – and is capable of accommodating 20,000 jobs, 10,000 new homes and 

improved transport connections.2 The entire development will have a Gross Development Value of 

£4.5 billion3 and covers an area of 151 hectares (370 acres).4  

 

4.12 In 2014, the Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration area was divided into three parts: the Brent Cross 

London redevelopment of the shopping centre, construction of new road and pedestrian 

connections and development in Cricklewood; the new Thameslink station and office development, 

and; the Brent Cross South residential regeneration. 

 

 Areas for discussion 

4.13 Members will explore the following topics: 

 Employment and skills - Maximising the potential benefits to the broader community 

through employment and skills strategy;  

 Town centres and high streets – the dynamics of developing new town centres and high 

streets and maintaining existing ones; and 

 Developing and delivering social infrastructure Working with communities both in the 

development phase as well as in the long term. 

                                                 
1 GLA, 2017, ‘What are Opportunity Areas?’ 
2 GLA, 2017, ‘Cricklewood/Brent Cross Opportunity Area’  
3 AECOM, 2017, ‘Brent Cross Cricklewood Regeneration’  
4 Brent Cross South, 2017, ‘History of the scheme’  

Page 59

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/opportunity-areas/what-are-opportunity-areas
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/planning/implementing-london-plan/opportunity-areas/opportunity-areas/cricklewoodbrent
http://www.aecom.com/projects/brent-cross-cricklewood-regeneration/
https://brentcrosssouth.co.uk/history-of-the-scheme/


        

 

 

 

Invited guests 

4.14 The following guests have confirmed their attendance at the meeting: 

 David Byrne, Principal at Barnet Southgate College;   

 Robin Cooper, Head of Regeneration, Newham Council;  

 Paulette Singer, community representative from Clitterhouse Farm;  

 A representative from the GLA; and 

 Other guests to be confirmed.  

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1  There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Riina Heinonen, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4510 

Email: riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk 

 

 
  

Page 60

mailto:riina.heinonen@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Regeneration Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Regeneration Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 21 November 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out a proposed work programme for the Regeneration Committee for the remainder 

of the 2017/18 Assembly year. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its updated work programme as set out in the report, and that 

the Committee’s meeting slot on 6 December 2017 be used for a site visit to Croydon town 

Centre. 

 

2.2 That the Committee delegates authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy 

Chairman, to agree the arrangements for the site visit to Croydon town centre and the 

date and arrangements for a site visit to Romford town centre. 

 

 

3. Background 
 
3.1 The Assembly agreed meeting slots for the Regeneration Committee for the 2017/18 Assembly 

Year, which the Committee may choose to use for formal meetings, site visits, informal meetings or 

other engagement activities. The Regeneration Committee receives a report on the progress of its 

work programme at each meeting.  

 

3.2 An updated proposed work programme is set out overleaf for the Committee’s approval. 

 

 

Page 61

Agenda Item 7



        

 

Date Topic 

 

6 December 2017 Site visit to Croydon town centre. 

 

17 January 2018 Roundtable discussion with residents and other 

stakeholders in and around the Old Oak and Park Royal 

Development Corporation area. 

 

6 February 2018 Q&A with Theo Blackwell, the GLA’s Chief Digital Officer 

 

1 March 2018 London Legacy Development Corporation (LLDC) 

 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
  

Town Centres 

4.1 The Committee used its first formal meeting of the year on 11 July 2017 for a discussion with invited 

guests on the Mayor’s principle of ‘Good Growth’ and the regeneration of London’s town centres.   

 

4.2 As part of its scoping for the scrutiny of town centre regeneration, the Committee agreed that it 

would undertake a series of site visits in different parts of London which have been impacted by 

Mayoral regeneration initiatives.  The Committee undertook a site visit to Wembley and Wealdstone 

on 15 June 2017 and a visit to Brent Cross Cricklewood on 26 October 2017.  The Committee will 

undertake a further site visit to Romford, as well as Croydon town centre.  It is proposed to use the 

Committee’s meeting slot on 6 December 2017 for a site visit to Croydon Town Centre and to 

delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chairman, to agree a date and the 

arrangements for a site visit to Romford town centre.  A summary of the site visits will be reported to 

the meeting of the Committee on 6 February 2018. 

 

4.3 The London Borough of Barnet’s Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration project will provide about 

7,500 new homes and 25,000 jobs.  The project, characterised by multiple ownership, is valued at 

£4.5bn and focuses on a 324-hectare area.  The project will start with the extension of the Brent 

Cross Shopping Centre and the highways.  At this meeting, the Committee will look at Brent Cross 

and other town centres to see what lessons can be learned from other regeneration projects in the 

capital. 

 

4.4 The Committee’s findings from this meeting with invited guests will feed into its scrutiny report on 

town centre regeneration.  It is anticipated that the report will be published in the first quarter of 

2018. 

 

Page 62



        

 The Old Oak and Park Royal Development Corporation (OPDC) and the London Legacy 

Development Corporation (LLDC) 

4.5 The Regeneration Committee provides the lead oversight for the London Assembly of the policies, 

decisions and actions of both the OPDC and the LLDC.  The Committee has met regularly with both 

Mayoral Development Corporations to question them about their progress. 

 

4.6 It is proposed that the Committee uses its meeting slot on 6 January 2018 for a roundtable 

discussion with residents and stakeholders in and around the OPDC area, which will inform the 

Committee’s future work on the OPDC. 

 

4.7 It is proposed that the Committee’s meeting slot on 1 March 2018 be used for either a site visit to 

the LLDC area or a discussion with invited guests on the progress of the LLDC. 

 

 Chief Digital Officer 

4.8 In June 2017, this Committee published its report on Digital Connectivity1. The Committee found 

that London’s success and international competitiveness are under threat because of sub-standard 

digital connectivity and that the capital is poorly served, suffering from ‘not spots’ and ‘digital 

deserts’, in areas like Rotherhithe in Southwark. 

 

4.9 In August 2017, the Mayor appointed Theo Blackwell as London’s first ever Chief Digital Officer to  

play a leading role in realising the Mayor’s ambition to make London the world’s smartest city, 

ensuring that the capital’s status as a global tech hub helps transform the way public services are 

designed and delivered, making them more accessible, efficient and responsive to the needs of 

Londoners.  

 

4.10 It is proposed to invite the Chief Digital Officer to the Committee’s meeting on 6 February 2018 to 

discuss his plans to improve digital connectivity in London. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 

 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

                                                 
1 https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/digital-connectivity-london 
 

Page 63

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/digital-connectivity-london


        

 

  

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer:  Riina Heinonen, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone:  020 7983 4510 

E-mail:  scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 64

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Convergence in London's Growth Boroughs

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - Convergence Report

	6 Town Centre Regeneration
	7 Regeneration Committee Work Programme

